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A MESSAGE FROM THE FOUNDERS '

U@ @UIR SHAREROQLDERS

Dear Shareholders:

We are pleased io report significant progress on our strategic
changes and turnaround efforts in 2007. The focus on
Accelerated Reader and Accelerated Math Enterprise; the
reinvigoration of our laptop product line; the expansion and
development of our sales force; new product innovations; and
the streamlining of the organization, including the narrowing of
product offerings, are all paying off. These and other strategic
initiatives position the company for much stronger results and
success in accelerating learning.

Orders for our products grew 3% in 2007, setting the stage for
what we expect to be more robust growth in the years ahead.
Because our subscription software and some service orders are
not immediately recognized as revenue, the improved order trend
did not translate into growth in reported sales and earnings.
However, 2007 operating cash flow was up 16.5% from the prior
year and deferred revenue grew by nearly $14 million. Our strong
cash flow, improving order trends, and confidence in our strategy
enabled us to increase our regular quarterly dividend by 40%, to
$.07 per share in 2007, and also provide a special cash dividend
of $.75 per share in September.

JUDITH A. PAUL |
Co-Founder and i
Chairman of the Board ‘
|
i
|

The Enterprise versions of Accelerated Reader and Accelerated TERRANCE D. PAUL
Math are proving to be very popular and successful. Customers Co-Founder and
recognize the value of gaining access to more than 122,000 Chief Executive Officer

Accelerated Reader quizzes and all of the Accelerated Math
libraries with Enterprise, which saves time and money, and helps
educators to betier match a student to a book or math objective
which, in turn, accelerates learning. The more than 11,000
Accelerated Reader customer schools that have upgraded to
Accelerated Reader Enterprise arg increasing their spending, on
average, by more than $1,200 per year. Since only 17% of our ]
current Accelerated Reader customers have upgraded to
Enterprise, there is great potential for substantial growth as the
remaining customers convert, In addition, because Enterprise
offers more value, we are also adding new reading and math
customer schools at an accelerating rate. The development of a Letter from the Founders
new version of the Renaissance Place platform and Home
Connect to be released in March 2008 and the new NEO 2 Form 10-K. ... ... Insert
laptop will also help pave the way for future growth.
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-PART 1

Item 1. Business
Overview

Renaissance Learning, Inc. is a leading provider of computer-based assessment technology for pre-kinder-
garten through senior high (*“pre-K-12") schools and districts. Our tools provide daily formative assessment and
periodic progress-monitoring technology to enhance core curriculum, support differentiated instruction and
personalize practice in reading, writing, and math. Renaissance Learning products help educators make the
practice component of their existing curriculum more effective by providing tools to personalize practice and easily
manage the daily activities for students of all levels.

Our products, which support and enhance all curriculum and instructional approaches, are backed by research
studies that support the demonstrated effectiveness of our products. Our products and services are primarily focused
on three key pre-K-12 curriculum areas: reading, writing and math. Accelerated Reader* STAR Reading, STAR
Early Literacy and Read Now Power Up! comprise our reading products. Qur math products include Accelerated
Math, STAR Math and Math Facts in a Flash. AiphaSmart laptops and related software are our primary writing and
keyboarding products. We also address language acquisition for English language learners with our English in a
Flash software. Our 2Know! response system is a versatile classroom tool which encourages classroom partic-
ipation and provides instantanecus feedback to instructors in any educational setting. Our products also include an
optical-mark card scanner, which is primarily used with Accelerated Math, to automate scoring and recordkeeping
tasks. Additionally, our product offerings include supplemental resources for educators and classroom use such as
handbooks, workbooks, learning cards and motivational items. ’

QOur flagship product, Accelerated Reader, is software that provides information for motivating and monitoring
increased literature-based reading practice. We believe that Accelerated Reader and our other products have
achieved their significant market positions as a tesult of demonstrated effectiveness in assisting educators accelerate
learning and improve essential skills by facilitating increased student practice, increasing the quality, quantity, and
timeliness of performance data available to educators, helping educators motivate students and providing student
access to low cost computing solutions. Our products help educators manage student practice of curriculum,
provide targeted instruction, keep students engaged and measure student progress in order to accelerate student
learning. ‘

Our educational software products are available on two separate platforms: our web-based Renaissance Place
software platform and our traditional desktop versions that run on local area networks of individual schools. The
Renaissance Place platform meets the needs of district-wide installations such as: scalability, remote access,
centralized database and server for multiple campus use, sophisticated statistical analysis, ease of administration
and support, and integration with student data from other district systems. Renaissance Place products are sold
primarily on a subscription basis typically for terms of one year. Our popular Accelerated Reader Enterprise and
Accelerated Math Enterprise packages are turn-key solutions consisting of the Renaissance Place platform with
enhanced features, unlimited access to all of our reading quizzes and math content, remote software hosting,
professional development and technical consulting services. Enterprise versions of Accelerated Reader and
Accelerated Math are sold on a subscription basis.

Our desktop products are relatively simple to set up and maintain for an individual school, are designed to
require only modest technology resources and are competitively priced — at or below the discretionary spending
level of most school principals. Our traditional desktop products are typically sold as school-wide perpetual

* AR, AccelScan, Accelerated Math, Accelerated Reader, Accelerated Vocabulary, AlphaSmart, Dana, English in a
Flash, MathFacls in a Flash, Neo, Neo 2, Read Now, Renaissance, Renaissance Learning, Renaissance Place,
STAR Early Literacy, STAR Reading, STAR Math and 2Know! are trademarks of Renaissance Learning, Inc.
registered ®, common law or pending registration in the United States and other countries. Other trademarks are
the property of their respective owners.

Power Up! and Steck-Vaughn are trademarks of Houghton Mifflin Harcourt Supplemental Publishers, Inc.
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software licenses with optional annual support plans, student expansions, and add-on reading quizzes and math
content libraries.

We offer a full line of professional service and support solutions that integrate with, complement, and enhance
the effectiveness of, our products. Sold separately or bundled with our products to provide a complete solution, our
service offerings include professional development and product training seminars and conferences, report and data
analysis, program evaluation, guided implementation, distance training, software support, software installation,
database conversion and integration services, and application hosting. Further, we conduct research on best
practices, perform field validation of techniques, publish internally generated as well as third-party research, and
gather information to guide the development of new and improved products,

) Renaissance Learning, Inc. was founded in 1986 and is incorporated under the laws of the State of Wisconsin.
Qur common stock trades on The NASDAQ Global Select Marker® under the symbol “RLRN.” Our principal
exccutive offices are located at 2911 Peach Street, P.O. Box 8036, Wisconsin Rapids, Wisconsin 54495-8036
(telephone: (715) 424-3636). You may obtain, free of charge, copies of this Annual Report on Form 10-K as well as
our Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q and our Current Reports on Form 8-K (and amendments to those reports) filed
with, or furnished to, the Securities Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) as soon as reasonably practicable after we
have filed, or furnished, such reports by accessing our website at http://www.renlearn.com, clicking on “About Us”
and scrolling down to the “SEC Filings™ link. You may read and copy any materials filed by us with the SEC at the
SEC’s Public Reference Room located at 100 F Street, NE, Washington, DC 20549. You may obtain information on
the operation of the Public Reference Room by calling the SEC at 1 800-SEC-0330 Information contained on our
website is not part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Software, Laptop Computing Solutions and Other Educational Products

Accelerated Reader is software for motivating and monitoring increased literature-based reading practice and
for providing educators with student progress information to support instruction. A student selects a book at an
appropriate reading level from a list of books for which the school has an Accelerated Reader quiz, reads the book,
and then takes a multiple-choice quiz on a computer. For each book read, Accelerated Reader tracks the amount of
reading practice achieved by calculating points based on the length and difficulty of the book and the student’s
performance on the quiz. The information generated from this process — titles read, percent of comprehension and
amount of reading completed — creates a database of student reading achievement from which reports are
generated that help educators monitor the amount and quality of reading practice for each individual student
and thereby effectively target their instruction of comprehension, vocabulary and fluency. We currently have
computerized book quizzes for Accelerated Reader on over 122,000 titles. Accelerated Reader supports recorded-
voice versions of quizzes on literature books for emergent readers, quizzes for assessing reading instruction
assignments from reading textbooks, and Literacy Skills quizzes which allow educators to assess students’
proficiency on specific skills found in state and district language arts standards.

STAR Reading is an easy to use, computer-adaptive formative reading assessment system that determines a
student's reading level, statistically correlated to national norms, in ten minutes or less. STAR Reading adapts itself
during testing by utilizing proprietary branching logic that evaluates the pattern of the student’s answers to -
determine the level of difficulty required for subsequent questions. Tests can be administered several times a year
and the results provide educators with a database of statistically accurate reading level information on their students,
grades 1-12, from which they can generate useful diagnostic reports and adjust instructional strategies accordingly.

STAR Early Literacy computer adaptive assessment software providés educators with a fast, accurate and easy
solution to assess the phonemic awareness, phonic and other readiness and literacy skills of students in grades pre-
K-3. The software helps educators identify each student’s specific strengths and diagnose specific weaknesses in
skills covered by early literacy curricula and standards. STAR Early Literacy allows for the assessment process to be

quickly and easily repeated several times throughout a school year at a lower cost and on a timelier basis than

conventional assessments.

Read Now Power Up! is a comprehensive reading intervention curriculum solution for grades 5-9 that
combines the instructional materials of Steck-Vaughn with the technology of Renaissance Learning to help
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educators assist students identified as struggling readers. Read Now Power Up! employs a comprehensive
instruction meodel, multimedia instructional materials, a software e-learning package hosted on a dedicated
interactive website and professional development services to support educators with implementation. These
components work together to help educators direct students to material appropriate to their reading ability, provide
the extensive practice crucial to improving reading skills, and develop the range of skills necessary to read
successfully, from phonemic awareness through fluency and comprehension.

Accelerated Math software helps educators personalize math instruction and manage the extensive curticulum
practice students need to develop math skills, master state standards and to ensure math success for students of all
abilities — average, gifted and remedial — from grade one through calculus, regardless of a district’s chosen math
curriculum. Accelerated Math software generates personalized assignments targeted to each individual student’s
level and scores them automatically using our AccelScan optical mark reader. Accelerated Math offers state
standards-aligned libraries, textbook-aligned libraries for popular math textbooks and extended response libraries
that integrate the application of multiple math objectives.

AccelScan, primarily used with Accelerated Marh, is our innovative, patented optical mark card reader. The
reader has intelligent mark recognition capability, which results in more accurate recognition of student marks by
distinguishing many degrees of darkness from a variety of marking instruments and ignoring lighter erasures.
AccelScan automates scoring of assignments and updating of student records, providing educators with immediate
information on student progress without manual scoring.

STAR Math is a computer-adaptive, formative math assessment test and database that provides the same
benefits as STAR Reading. STAR Math reports provide objective information to help educators instantly place their
students, monitor progress, and match instruction to individual student levels.” Quick, accurate, and easy to
administer, STAR Maih provides math scores for grades 1-12 in approximately 15 minutes, provides comparisons to
national norms, forecasts results on major high-stakes tests, and can be administered several times throughout the
school year to track student development of math proficiency.

MathFacts in a Flash software helps educators motivate students to master computational fluency. It gives
students at all skill levels valuable practice on their addition, subtraction, multiplication, and division facts as well
as on mental math skills such as squares and fraction/decimal conversion. Timed tests administered by the system
accurately measure students’ practice and mastery, while detailed reports give educators timely, reliable feedback
on the progress of individual students or entire classrooms.

English in a Flash software utilizes a research-based approach to helping educators accelerate the language
acquisition for students who are English Language Learners (ELLs) and English as a Second Language (ESL)
students, This approach is based on a systematic method of learning language without reliance upon translation,
grammatical instruction, or multimedia distractions, which is significantly faster than traditional methods of
language acquisition.

AlphaSmart Laptops are rugged, portable, easy-to-use, low total-cost-of-ownership computing devices that
can operate independently or complement existing computers. Models offered include the Neo 2, Neo and Dana.
AlphaSmart laptops are particularly well suited to keyboarding skill development and facilitating writing practice in
a classroom setting. In addition, AlphaSmart laptops run a variety of curriculum-specific software focused on skills
improvement and real-time formative assessment in writing, language arts, math, science, keyboarding, social
studies, technology literacy and special needs. AlphaSmart laptops also perform word-processing, function as a
calculator, are expandable and feature advanced wireless capabilities, thereby increasing student access to
affordable portable computing. They can operate up to 700 hours on a single set of batteries. The Neo 2 contains
the functionality of, and integrates with, our 2Know! response system. Concurrent with the March 2008 release of
Accelerated Reader, Renaissance Place schools will have the ability to administer Accelerated Reader quizzes
using the Neo 2, which will effectively leverage the functionality and benefits of these two popular products in an
educational setting.

2Know! response system is an interactive system that allows educators to easily encourage student classroom
participation and obtain instantaneous feedback that can be used to quickly assess student comprehension and
performance. The system employs state-of-the-art radio frequency technology allowing wireless communication
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between students” handheld devices and Renaissance Learning software. Educators can use the system and the large
amount of available assessment content for quizzes, tests, surveys and exercises while encouraging increased
classroom participation and saving time through automatic real-time scoring.

Educator Resource Products. We also produce videotapes, handbooks, lesson beoks, math leamning cards,
workbooks and motivational items for use by educators in conjunction with our software and training programs.

Professional Services

We offer a full line of professional services to our customers. Our services include support plans for our
software solutions, technical services, product training and multiple professional development options.

Support Plans. We offer extended service and support plans that provide users of our products access to
telephone support. Support plans are packaged with software and also sold separately and typically cover a period of
12 months.

Technical Services. We provide our customers with a variety of services to help with the implementation and
support of their Renaissance programs. These include system setup, software installation, application hosting,
troubleshooting, technical training, data conversion, interface programming and custom report writing.

Training and Professional Development Services. Our professional development sessions provide leadership
development opportunities, instruct educators in proven best practices to enhance their curriculum and instruction,
and inform educators on how to most effectively use our products and the information they generate. Qur content
has been organized into beginning, advanced and special topics that can be delivered over time allowing educators
to integrate best practices into the classroom and assimilate information as they need it. We offer several delivery
options to meet specific customer needs and constraints including: (i) online self-study, (ii) online webinars
conducted by a Renaissance implementation specialist using the web and a telephone, (iii) full-day professional
development seminars, (iv) consulting provided on an on-site or remote basis, (v) implementation coaching in
which the educator is paired with one of our specialists for implementation support over an entire school year and
(vi) large training events like our regional symposiums and national conference.

Our training and professional development services can be accessed online through the Renaissance Training
Center which is the gateway to all of our professional development services. Customers can access online self-study
content or webinars as well as register for regional symposiums. The site also tracks each person’s courses, online
certificates, continuing education (CEU) credits and maintains a transcript of completed professional development.

Product Development

We believe that continued substantial investment in product development is required to remain competitive and
grow in the educational marketplace. We invest continuously in the development of new products and services,
enhancement of existing products and services, development of new content for existing products, development of
tools to increase the efficiency of product development, and scientific research that: generates concepts for new
products and services, validates the efficacy of our existing products and services and provides useful feedback for
improvement of new and existing products and services. For the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006, and 2003,
our development expenses were $18.5 million, $17.3 million and $17.0 million, respectively (excluding capitalized
amounts of $0.2 million, $0.7 million and $0.3 million, respectively).

Selling and Marketing

We market our educational products and services to teachers, school librarians, principals, entire schools,
school district personnel, and state departments of education as well as internationally through our United Kingdom
sales office and distributors. Our sales and marketing strategy consists of direct marketing to potential and existing
customers and relationship selling through a dual sales channel encompassing both a telesales organization
primarily designed for school level sales and a field sales team focused on multiple schools or district wide sales. We
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use a variety of lead-generating techniques, including trade shows, advertisements in educational publications,
direct mail, websites and referrals.

We have resale arrangements with various book dealers and book publishers that sell our software products to
their customers. These firms are particularly receptive to such alliances because the use of our products in schools
encourages increased purchases of the books and other products that they sell. Some of our hardware products are
also distributed by various third-party resellers. We offer only limited, short-term price protection and stock
balancing rights to our resellers.

Part of our distribution strategy is to develop cross-marketing arrangements with third-party firms, which seil
non-competing products into the education market. We have formed strategic alliances with book distributors,
publishers, and other organizations in the pre-K-12 market to develop additiona! new product opportunities and to
enhance the channels available to sell and distribute our products. These alliances take several forms. For example,
we offer Accelerated Reader quizzes and Accelerated Math software libraries aligned to popular textbook series
and other curriculum materials. Our Read Now Power Up! product is the result of a combined development effort
and cross-marketing arrangement with a major textbook publisher. We also have other arrangements in which we
have aligned our products to work with and/or complement other educational materials.

We experience seasonal variations in customer orders primarily due to the budget and school-year cycles of our
customers. Total quarterly orders received are generalty highest in the third quarter. Qur service revenues tend to be
higher in the second and third quarters due to customer preferences as to when services are delivered. Due to
increased interest in our subscription-based products and services, particularly Accelerated Reader Enterprise and
Accelerated Math Enterprise, the current trend is toward software order levels being higher in the second and third
quarters. Also, due to Accelerated Reader Enterprise and Accelerated Math Enterprise, which include access to all
reading quizzes and math libraries, we have recently experienced reduced orders for reading quizzes and math
libraries. This change in reading quiz and math library ordering patterns has tended to reduce order levels in the first
and fourth quarters, thus further adding to the seasonally high proportion of orders received in the second and third
quarter.

Production

A growing number of customers purchase our software on a hosted basis and therefore access our products
directly from our data center servers through the internet. Our software products are also distributed on CD-ROM.
Bulk CD-ROMs are produced by third-party contractors. We produce order-specific and smaller batches of CD-
ROMs at our distribution facility. Accelerated Reader quizzes and Accelerated Math libraries can be purchased and
downloaded from our website and selected patches and software updates are available for download on our website
as well.

Qur AlphaSmart laptops, the 2Know! response system and our AccelScan scanners are produced to our
specifications by third-party contract manufacturers, some of which are located cutside of the United States. Other
related products, including videotapes, books, graphics, and motivational items, are produced by third-party
vendors.

Competition

The educational technology and professional development markets in which we operate are very competitive
and fragmented. We compete with many other companies offering educational software products, computing
devices, interactive response systems, professional development and technology consulting services to schools,
Education continues to emerge as a major global industry and potential competitors, including large hardware
manufacturers, software developers, educational publishers, and consulting firms, may enter or increase their focus
on the schools market, resulting in greater competition for us. In addition, we compete against other more traditional
methods of education, training and testing, including pencil and paper testing.

As we enter into new markets, existing competitors could increase the barriers'to entering these markets by
driving prices lower or making modifications to enhance their products. Success in selling our established products
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and services may cause competitors to focus on us in their marketing efforts thereby increasing direct competition.
There can be no assurance that we will continue to be able to market our products and services successfully or
compete effectively in the educational marketplace.

Intellectual Property

We regard certain of our technologies as proprietary and rely primarily on a combination of patent, copyright,
trademark, and trade secret laws as well as employee non-disclosure agreements to establish and protect our
intellectual property rights. We also employ serialization techniques to prevent unauthorized installation of our
software products and related content. There can be no assurance that the steps taken by us to protect our rights will
adequately prevent and deter misappropriation. In addition, while we do not believe that our products, trademarks or
other proprietary rights infringe upon the proprietary rights of third parties, there can be no assurance that a third
party will not make a contrary assertion. The cost of responding to such assertions can be material, regardless of
whether an assertion is validated. The software publishing industry has traditionally experienced widespread
unauthorized reproduction of products in violation of intellectual property rights. Such activity is difficult to detect
and legal proceedings to enforce intellectual property rights are often burdensome and involve a high degree of
uncertainty and costs. There can be no assurance that our software products will not experience unauthorized
reproduction, which would have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of
operations.

Employees

As of February 1, 2008, we had 991 full-time and part-time employees. We believe our relations with
employees are good. None of our employees is represented by a union or subject to collective bargaining
agreements.

Backlog

As of December 31, 2007 and 2006, we had backlogs that aggregated approximately $39.6 million and
$26.2 million, respectively. These backlogs include deferred revenue related to software subscriptions, software
support agreements, technology consulting and professional development of $38.4 million and $24.6 million at
December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively. Substantially all of the 2007 backlog is expected to be realized during 2008.

Forward-Looking Statements

In accordance with the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995, we can obtain a “safe-harbor” for
forward-looking statements by identifying those statements and by accompanying those statements with cautionary
statements which identify factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from those in the forward-
looking statements. Accordingly, the following information contains or may contain forward-looking statements:
(1) information included or incorporated by reference in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, including, without
limitation, statements made under “Item 1-Business” and “Item 7-Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations,” including, without limitation, statements with respect to growth
initiatives, growth prospects, projected sales, revenues, earnings and costs, and product development schedules and
plans, and management’s expectations regarding orders and financial results for future periods (2) information
included or incorporated by reference in our future filings with the SEC including, without limitation, statements
with respect to growth initiatives, growth prospects, projected sales, revenues, earnings and costs, and product
development schedules and plans, and management’s expectations regarding orders and financial results for future
periods and (3) information contained in written material, releases and oral statements issued by us, or on our
behalf, including, without limitation, statements with respect to growth initiatives, growth prospects, projected
sales, revenues, earnings and costs, and product development schedules and ptans, and management’s expectations
regarding orders and financial results for future periods. Our actual results may differ materially from those
contained in the forward-looking statements identified above. Factors which may cause such a difference to occur
include, but are not limited to, the factors listed in “Item 1A-Risk Factors.”
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Item 1A. Risk Factors

Reliance on Single Product Line. Our Accelerated Reader software and supplemental Accelerated Reader
quizzes accounted for approximately 38%, 37% and 37% of our net sales in 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. An
overall decline in sales of Accelerated Reader and supplemental quizzes would have a material adverse effect on our
business, financial condition and results of operations,

Geographic Concentration of Sales. A substantial portion of our sales is concentrated in several states,
including California, Texas, Florida, North Carolina and Georgia, which accounted for approximately 15%, 14%,
6%, 4% and 4%, respectively, of our net sales in 2007. If large numbers of schools or a district or districts controlling
a large number of schools in such states were to discontinue purchasing our products and services, our business,
financial condition, and results of operations would be materially adversely affected.

Dependence on Educational Institutions and Government Funding. Substantially all of our revenue is derived
from sales to educational institutions, individual educators, and their other suppliers. There can be no assurance that
educational institutions and/or individval educators will continue to invest in technology-based products and
professional development for reading and other curricula or continue to respond favorably to our marketing. Qur
inability to increase the number of products sold or number of schools served would adversely affect our business,
financial condition and results of operations. Because of our dependence on educational institutions, the funding of
which is largely dependent on government support, a substantial decrease in government budgets or funding for
educational software or technology would have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and
results of operations. Economic slow downs that negatively affect school funding can adversely impact the sale of
our products and services to schools. In addition, certain aspects of government sponsored education initiatives may
not endorse, or be complementary 10, the principles and methodologies underlying and associated with our products
and services, which could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Dependence on Continued Product Development. The educational technology and services markets in which
we compele are characterized by evolving industry standards, frequent product introductions and sudden tech-
nological change. Our future success depends, to a significant extent, on a number of factors, including our ability to
enhance our existing products, develop and successfully introduce new products in a timely fashion, and respond
quickly and cost effectively to technological change, including: shifts in operating systems, hardware platforms,
programming languages, alternative delivery systems, the internet and other uncertainties. There can be no
assurance that new products will be as well received as our established products, particularly since they may require
technelogy and/or resources not generally availabie in all schools. We attempt to maintain high standards for the
demonstrated academic effectiveness of our products. Our adherence to these standards could delay or inhibit the
introduction of new products. Moreover, there can be no assurance that our products will not be rendered obsolete or
that we will have sufficient resources to make the nececssary investments or be able to develop and market the
products required to maintain our competitive position.

Acquisitions. In order to strengthen our business, we continually evaluate strategic opportunities, including
acquisitions. Acquisitions involve a number of difficulties and risks, including, among others: the failure to
integrate personnel, technology, research and development, marketing and sales operations of the acquired
company; the diversion of management time and resources and the resulting disruption to our ongoing business;
the potential Ioss of the acquired company’s customers, as well as our own; and unanticipated costs and liabilities.
Any integration process will require significant time and resources, and we may not be able to manage the process
successfully. If customers of the acquired company, or our customers, are uncertain about our ability to operate on a
combined basis with the acquired company, they could delay or cancel orders for products and services. Moreover,
we may not successfully evaluate or utilize the acquired technology or accurately forecast the financial impact of an
acquisition transaction. If we fail to integrate an acquired company or business successfully, our business, financial
condition, and results of operations could be adversely affected, including the potential need to record a non-cash
charge for the impairment of goodwill and other intangibles.

Reliance on statistical studies to demonstrate effectiveness of our products and services. We rely on statistical
studies to demonstrate that our producis and related services improve student achievement, We believe that these
studies accurately reflect the performance of our products. These studies, however, involve the following risks:
(i) the sample sizes used in our studies may yield results that are not representative of the general population of
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students who use our products; (ii) the methods used to gather the information upon which these studies are based
depend on cooperation from students and other participants, and inaccurate or incomplete responses could distort
results; (iii) schools studying the effectiveness of our products may apply different methodologies and data
collection techniques, making results difficult to aggregate and compare; (iv) we facilitate the collection and
analysis of data for some of these studies; and (v) we hire researchers to aggregate and present the results of some of
these studies and, in some cases, to conduct the studies. There is growing demand from the No Child Left Behind
Act and other sources for research and studies to demonstrate the effectiveness of educational programs and
products. Our selling and marketing efforts, as well as our reputation, could be adversely impacted if the public,
including our existing and potential customers, is not convinced that the product effectiveness is proven by the
studies.

Limited Protection of Intellectual Property and Proprietary Rights. We regard certain of our technologies as
proprietary and rely primarily on a combination of patent, copyright, trademark and trade secret laws and employee
non-disclosure agreements to establish and protect our intellectual property rights. We also employ serialization
techniques to prevent unauthorized installation of our software products and related content. There can be no
assurance that the steps taken by us to protect our rights will be adequate to prevent or deter misappropriation. In
addition, while we do not believe that our products, trademarks or other proprietary rights infringe upon the
proprietary rights of third parties, there can be no assurance that a third party will not make a contrary assertion. The
cost of responding to such assertions can be material, regardless of whether an assertion is validated. The software
publishing industry has traditionally experienced widespread unauthorized reproduction of products in violation of
intellectual property rights. Such activity is difficult to detect and legal proceedings to enforce intellectual property
rights are often burdensome and involve a high degree of uncertainty and costs. There can be no assurance that our
software products will not experience unauthorized reproduction, which would have a material adverse effect on
our business, financial condition and resulis of operations.

Selling and Marketing Strategy and Product Acceptance. Our selling and marketing strategy includes the
introduction of new products and services directed at new markets as well as the development of new sales and
distribution channels. There can be no assurance that we will be successful in offering new products and services,
entering new markets and developing new sales and distribution channels or that any such products or services, if
introduced, will achieve acceptance.in the marketplace. '

Risks of International Expansion. A component of our growth strategy is the expansion of our operations in
international markets. Doing business in international markets is subject to a number of risks, including, among
others: acceptance by foreign educational systems of our approach to educational products; lack of existing
customer base; unexpected changes in regulatory requirements; potentially adverse tax consequences; tariffs and
other trade barriers; difficulties in staffing and managing foreign operations; changing economic conditions;
exposure to different legal standards (particularly with respect to intellectual property); burdens of complying with
a variety of foreign laws; and fluctuations in currency exchange rates. If any of these risks were to materialize, our
business, financial condition, and results of operations could be adversely affected.

Educational Philosophies. Our products support all teaching methods and curricula by focusing on contin-
uous feedback, increased student practice of essential skills, and demonstrated product effectiveness through
measurable results. Certain educators, academics, politicians, and theorists, however, advocate philosophies of
instruction that can lead them to oppose certain educational products or services. These philosophies can include,
but are not limited to, opposition to standardized testing or over-reliance on the same; opposition to computers ot
motivational techniques; exclusive focus on particular types of direct instruction; and highly technical definitions of
acceptable research. Some of these philosophical stances have the capacity to negatively influence the market for
our products and services, and such influence could have a material adverse impact on demand for our products and
services and thus on our-business, financial condition and results of operations. ‘

Highly Competitive Industry. The educational technology and professional development markets in which we
operate are very competitive and fragmented. We compete with other companies offering educational software
products, computing devices, interactive response systems, professional development, and technology consulting
services to schools. Education continues to emerge as a major global industry and potential competitors, including
large hardware manufacturers, software developers, educational publishers, and consulting firms, may enter or
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increase their focus on the schools market, resulting in greater competition for us. In addition, we compete against
more traditional methods of education, training and testing, including pencil and paper testing,

As we enter into new markets, existing competitors could increase the barriers to entering this market by
driving prices lower or making modifications to enhance their products. Success in selling our established products
and services may cause competitors to focus on us in their marketing efforts thereby increasing direct competition.
There can be no assurance that we will continue to be able to market our products successfully or compete
effectively in the educational marketplace.

Dependence on Key Personnel. Our success depends to a significant extent upon the continued active
participation of certain key members of management. We do not have employment agreements with these
individuals and have no current intention of entering into any such employment agreements. The loss of the
services of key personnel could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of
operations.

Ability to Attract and Retain Qualified Personnel. Our future success will depend, in part, upon our continuing
ability to retain the employees, including senior management personnel, who have assisted in the development and
marketing of our products and to attract and retain qualified additional employees trained in computer technology,
sales, marketing, finance, and other disciplines to enhance our product offerings and broaden our operations. There
can be no assurance that we will continue to be able to attract and retain such personnel. The failure to attract or
retain the necessary personnel would have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results
of operations.

Fluctuations in Quarterly Performance. We generally deliver products as orders are received. The quantity of
product orders in any quarter can be affected by a variety of factors, including:

» delays in the development and/or shipment of new products;
» the closing of large contract sales, such as those to school districts;
¢ the shipment of new products for which orders have been building for a period of time; and

= seasonal variations due to, among other things, the budget and school year cycles of our school customers
and annual ordering patterns related to subscription-based products and services, particularly Accelerated
Reader Enterprise and Accelerated Math Enterprise.

In addition, our quarterly results can also be affected by:

¢ charges related to acquisitions and divestitures, including related expenses, the write-off of in-process
research and development, the amortization of intangible assets, asset impairments and similar items;

charges related to obsolete or impaired tangible assets, intangible assets, goodwill, capitalized software
development costs and similar items;

supply-chain issues such as manufacturing problems, delivery delays, component shortages, strikes or
quality issues;

+ expenses related to product development and marketing initiatives;

seasonal variability of product support costs; and

» seasonal variations due to delays in quiz order patterns as customers consider upgrading to Accelerated
Reader Enterprise, our turn-key solution, which includes ail quiz content.

Our overall gross margins also fluctuate based upon the mix of software, hardware and service sales. We
realize higher margins on our software product sales than our hardware and service sales. Some of our revenues tend
to be seasonal due to annual school budget cycles, customer preferences as to when products and services are
delivered and the timing of our larger professional development events, resulting in seasonal variations in margins.

Share Price Volatility. Numerous factors, many of which are beyond our control, may cause the market price
of our common stock to fluctuate significantly. These factors include announcements of technological innovations
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and/or new products by us and our competitors, earnings releases and earnings warnings by us and our competitors,
expectations regarding government funding levels for education, market conditions in the industry, announcements
by us of significant acquisitions and/or divestitures, and the general state of the securities markets, The market price
of our common stock may decline significantly if we fail to meet our forecasts or the published earnings estimates of
analysts and others. [n addition, quarterly fluctuations of our results of operations as described above may cause a
significant variation in the market price of our common stock.

War, Acts of War and Terrorism. Delays and reductions in purchases of our products and services may occur as
a result of war, acts of war and terrorism, and the related impacts, including a reduction of funds available to our
customers to purchase our products and services and disruptions in our ability to develop, produce and distribute
products and services to our customers. These events would have a material adverse effect on our business, financial
condition and results of operations.

Concentration of Share Ownership; Control by Principal Shareholders/Management. As of February 20,
2008, our principal shareholders, Judith Paul and Terrance Paul, our chairman and chief executive officer,
respectively, and co-founders of the company, beneficially owned approximately 67% of our outstanding common
stock. As a result, these principal shareholders have the ability to control and direct our business and affairs.

Shares Eligible for Future Sale. Sales of a substantial number of shares of our common stock in the public
market could adversely affect the market price of the common stock. As of February 20, 2008, approximately
19.5 million shares of our common stock were held by “affiliates” and may be publicly sotd only if registered under
the Securities Act of 1933 or sold in accordance with an applicable exemption from registration, such as Rule 144.
In addition, we have filed registration statements under the Securities Act of 1933 to register an aggregate of
6,000,000 shares of common stock reserved for issuance under our 1997 Stock Incentive Plan and an aggregate of
500,000 shares of common stock reserved for issuance under our Employee Stock Purchase Plan (ESPP), which
will, when issued in accordance with such plans, be eligible for immediate sale in the public market, subject to the
Rule 144 resale limitations for affiliates. We did not offer the ESPP to our employees in 2005, 2006 or 2007 and
have no intention of offering it in 2008.

Cash Dividends. We declared quarterly cash dividends of: $0.05 per share in the first and second quarter of
2007 and $0.07 in the third and fourth quarter of 2007. We also declared a special dividend of $0.75 per share during
2007. Our dividend policy may be affected by, among other things, our views on potential future capital
requirements, including those related to research and development, creation and expansion of sales distribution
channels, acquisitions, legal risks and stock repurchases. Our dividend policy may change from time to time, and we
cannot provide assurance that we will continue to declare dividends at all or in any particular amounts. A change in
our dividend policy could have a negative effect on the market price of our common stock.

Possible Antitakeover Effects of Certain Articles and By-Laws Provisions and Provisions of Wisconsin Law.
Our Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation and Amended and Restated By-Laws, along with Wisconsin
statutory law, contain provisions that could discourage potential acquisition proposals and might delay or prevent a
change in control of the company. Such provisions could result in our being less attractive 1o a poteatial acquirer and
could result in the shareholders receiving less for their common stock than otherwise might be available in the event
of a takeover attempt.

Divestitures. From time to time, we may, for any number of reasons, determine it is in our best interests and in
the interests of our shareholders to dispose of a business or product line. Divestitures involve a number of difficulties
and risks, including, among others, the diversion of management time and resources and the resulting disruption to
our ongoing business, and unanticipated costs and liabilities. If we are unable to manage the divestiture process
successfully or if we are incorrect in our assumptions regarding the costs associated with a disposition, our business,
financial condition and results of operations could be adversely affected.

Item 1B. Unresolved Siaff Comments

None.




Item 2. Properties

Our corporate headquarters is located in Wisconsin Rapids, Wisconsin, in a 125,000 square foot facitity owned
by us which was constructed in 1996. We lease various other office and warehouse space. We believe our facilities
are adequate to support our operations for the foreseeable future,

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

We are subject to various claims and proceedings covering a wide range of matters that arise in the ordinary
course of our business activities. We believe that any liability that may ultimately arise from the resolnion of these
matters will not have a material adverse effect on our financial position, results of operations or shareholders’

equity.

Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders

We did not submit any matters to a vote of our security holders during the fourth quarter of the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2007.
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EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT

Name and Age of Officer

Judith Ames Paul .................

Age 61

Terrance D.Paul .. ................

Age 61

Steven A. Schmidt. . ...............

Age 53

Mary T. Minch
Age 41

Office

Ms. Paul is the co-founder of the company and has been chairman of
the board of directors since February 2006. From 1986 until July 2001,
and again from August 2002 until July 2003, Ms. Paul served as
chairman of the board, and from July 2001 until August 2002, and
again from July 2003 until February 2006, Ms. Paul served as co-
chairman with Mr. Paul. Ms. Paul has been a director since 1986.
Ms. Paul acts as our spokesperson and is a leading teacher advocate.
Ms. Paul holds a bachelor’s degree in elementary education from the
University of Illinois. Judith Pavl is Terrance Paul's wife.

Mr. Paul is the co-founder of the company and has been our chief
executive officer since February 2006. From February 2006 to April
2006, Mr. Paui also served as our president. From August 2002 until
July 2003, Mr. Paul served as our chief executive officer. From July
1996 until July 2001, Mr. Paul served as vice chairman of the board
and from July 2001 until August 2002, and again from July 2003 until
February 2006, Mr. Paul served as co-chairman with Ms. Paul.
Mr. Paul has been a director since 1986. Mr. Paul holds a law
degree from the University of Illinois and an MBA from Bradley
University. Terrance Paul is Judith Paul’s husband.

Mr. Schmidt has been our president and chief operating officer since
April 2006. From November 2005 until January 2006, he served as our
senior vice president, administration and operations. From July 2003
to November 2005, Mr. Schmidt served as our exccutive vice
president. From August 1999 until November 2004, he served as
our chief financial officer and secretary, and from August 1999 until
July 2003, he also served as a vice president. Mr. Schmidt holds a
bachelor’s degree in accountancy from the University of Wisconsin-
La Crosse, and is a certified public accountant.

Ms. Minch has been our chief financial officer and secretary since
November 2004 and has served as senior vice president, finance since
January 2007. From December 2003 to January 2007, Ms. Minch
served as our vice president, finance. From Febrvary 2003 to
December 2003, Ms. Minch held the position of North American
division controller for Stora Enso North American Corp., a forest
product company whose parent company acquired Consolidated -
Papers, Inc. From October 2000 to February 2003, she served as
controller-magazine papers at Stora Enso North American Corp.
Ms. Minch holds bachelor’s degrees in managerial accounting and
finance from the University of Wisconsin-Stevens Point and a master’s
degree from the University of Wisconsin-Oshkosh, and is a certified
public accountant.

The term of office of each executive officer is from one annual meeting of the board of direciors until the next
annual meeting of the board of directors or until a successor has been duly elected and qualified or until his or her
death or until he or she resigns or has been removed from office.

There are no arrangements or understandings between any of our executive officers and any other person {not
an officer or director of the company acting as such) pursuant to which any of the executive officers were selected as
an officer of the company. )
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PART 11
“Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Comman Eguity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of
Equity Securities
Market Information

Our common stock is traded under the symbol “RLRN” on The NASDAQ Global Select Market. Information
regarding the market prices of our common stock may be found in Note 16 of our Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements.

Holders

As of February 20, 2008, there were 609 record holders of our common stock.

Historical Dividends

We declared quarterly cash dividends of $0.05 per share in each of the four quarters of 2006. We declared
quarterly cash dividends of: $0.05 per share in the first and second quarter of 2007 and $0.07 in the third and fourth
quarter of 2007. We also declared a special dividend of $0.75 per share during 2007. We intend to continue to pay
quarterly cash dividends, subject to capital availability and a determination that cash dividends continue to be in the
best interests of the company and our shareholders,
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Performance Graph

The following graph compares the total shareholder return on our common stock for the five year period from
December 31, 2002 through December 31, 2007 with that of the NASDAQ Composite Index and a peer group index
constructed by us. The companies included in our peer group index are Blackboard Inc. (BBBB), Learning Tree
International, Inc. (LTRE), The Princeton Review, Inc. (REVU), School Specialty, Inc. (SCHS), Skillsoft Public
Company Limited (SKIL) and Plato Learning, Inc. (TUTR).

The total return calculations set forth below assume $100 invested on December 31, 2002 with reinvestment of
dividends into additional shares of the same class of securities at the frequency with which dividends were paid on
such securities through December 31, 2007. The stock performance graph shown in the graph below should not be
considered indicative of potential future stock price performance.

COMPARISON OF A 5 YEAR CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN*
Among Renaissance Learning, Inc., The NASDAQ Composite Index
And A Peer Group
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Cumulative Return
12/02 12/03 12/04 12/05 12/06 12/07
Renaissance Learning, Inc. ............. 100.00 | 127.35 | 106.79 | 110.03 | 104.58 89.14
NASDAQ Composite Index. . . ...........] 100.00 | 149.89 | 165.01 | 169.26 | 188.17 | 207.11
Peer Group............. .. .. oue-nen 100.00 | 186.17 | 149.69 | 166.92 | 167.36 | 220.78

* $100 invested on 12/31/02 in stock or index-including reinvestment of dividends.
Fiscal year ending December 31.



Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities

There were no sales of unregistered securities during the year ended December 31, 2007.

Changes in Securities, Use of Proceeds and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

On April 17, 2002, our Board of Directors authorized a repurchase program which provides for the repurchase
of up to 5,000,000 shares of our common stock. On February 9, 2005, our Board of Directors authorized the
repurchase of an additional 3,000,000 shares under the stock repurchase program. On February 6, 2008 our Board of
Directors authorized the purchase of an additional 1.0 million shares under the stock repurchase program.

No time limit was placed on the duration of the repurchase program, nor is there any dollar limit on the
program. Repurchased shares will become treasury shares and may be used for stock-based employee benefit plans
and for other general corporate purposes.

The following table shows information relating to the repurchase of shares of our common stock during the
three months ended December 31, 2007;

Total Number of
Shares Purchased as Maximum Number of

Part of Publicly Shares that May Yet Be
Total Number of Average Price Announced Plans or Parchased Under the
Period Shares Purchased  Paid per Share Programs Plans or Programs
October 1-31 .............. 93 $13.10 93 246,767
November 1-30. . ........... 0 0 0 246,767
December 1-31............. 36 15.48 _36 246,731
Total ... ... ... Ll 129 $13.76 129




Item 6. Selected Financial Data

SELECTED HISTORICAL CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL DATA
(In thousands, except per share amounts)

Year Ended December 31,

2007 2006 2005 2004 2003
Consolidated Income Statement Data
Net sales:
Products . . ... oo e $ 84628 $90,750 § 94296 $ 91482 $106,080
QEIVICES « o vt et e e 23,304 20,778 21,987 20,242 21,552
Totalnetsales. . .....cvveenivnnn... 107,932 111,528 116,283 111,724 127,632
Cost of sales:
Products . . ..o ovie e 15,673 16,455 12,917 6,167 10,656
SEIVICES & v v v oo vt e et 11,830 10,011 8,669 9,532 9,628
Total costofsales . ......... .. ... ... 27,503 26,466 21,586 15,699 20,284
Gross profit. .. ........... [ 80,429 85,062 94,697 96,025 107,348
Operating expenses: )
Product development. . .. ............... 18,506 17,291 17,046 14,536 14,881
Selling and marketing . . .. .............. 36,042 33,639 30,778 30,551 27,997
General and administrative .. ............ 14,951 16,330 12,989 12,005 12,346
Total operating expenses ... ........... 69,499 67,260 60,813 57,092 55,224
Operating inCome . .. .. ..vvveennnnn. 10,930 17,802 - 33,884 38,933 52,124
Other, net . . ... . e ianeas 1,178 1,234 3,494 1,640 2,267
Income — continuing operations before income
BAXES & v s et it 12,108 19,036 37,378 40,573 54,391
Income taxes — continuing operations. . ... ... 4.541 7,043 13,211 15,012 19,406
Income — continuing operations . . ... ....... 7,567 11,993 24,167 25,561 34,985
Income (loss) — discontinued operations. . . . .. _— — 584 (2,859) (2,444)
NELINCOME « v v oot e is e eens $ 7567 $ 11,993 $ 24751 % 22702 § 32,541
Earnings (loss) per share:
Basic: \
Continuing operations . . . ............. 0.26 0.41 0.78 0.82 1.12
Discontinued operations. . .. ........... 0.00 0.00 0.02 (0.09) (0.07)
NetinCOmME . . v vttt et e e ieie e eanns $ 026 $ 041 % 08 § 073 § 105
Diluted:
Continuing operations . ............... 0.26 041 0.78 0.82 1.12
Discontinued operations. ... ........... (.00 0.00 0.02 (0.09) (0.08)
Net inCome . .. ..ot e i ee e $ 026 & 04l 080 §$§ 073 § 1.04
Cash dividends declared per share. .......... $ 099 § 0.20 020 % 231** § —
Consolidated Balance Sheet Data
Working capital ... ....... ... ... ... .. $ (6,543) $ 15282 $ 21,539 §$ 41,815 $103,240
Total aSSElS . . oottt it e 113,300 117,711 128,382 114,724 159,601
95,866 84,417 133,330

Shareholders’ equity .. .. ... ... .. .. L.l 57.987 79,571

* Includes a special dividend in 2007 of $0.75 per share.
** Includes a special dividend in 2004 of $2.15 per share.

Generation21 Learning Systems, LLC (“Generation21”) was divested during 2005 and, therefore, its results
for all periods presented in the consolidated financial statements are reflected as discontinued operations.
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Overview

Renaissance Learning, Inc. is a leading provider of computer-based assessment technology for pre-K-12
schools. Qur tools provide daily formative assessment and periodic progress-monitoring technology to enhance
core curriculum, support differentiated instruction and personalize practice in reading, writing and math. Renais-
sance Learning products help educators make the practice component of their existing curriculum more effective by
providing tools to personalize practice and easily manage the daily activities for students of all levels.

Our sales are derived primarily from the sale of software products, computerized hardware products and
related services. Revenues are recorded net of an allowance for estimated returns, Allowances for bad debts are also
recorded at the time of the sale.

Product revenue is derived primarily from the sale of educational software and hardware. Revenue from sales
of hardware is generally recognized when the product is shipped to the customer. Revenue recognition from sales of
our software depends on whether the software is: (1) off-the-shelf or customized and {i1) whether it is licensed on a
perpetual basis or as a subscription, We recognize revenue from off-the-shelf perpetually licensed software sales
upon delivery to customers, Subscription-based software sales are recognized as revenue on a straight-line basis
over the subscription period. Sales of software that require substantial modification or customization are recognized
as revenue using the percentage-of-completion method of accounting. Revenues and deferred revenues from
software that require substantial modification or customization are not significant in any of the years presented.

Service revenue is primarily derived from: (i) product support services, (ii} professional development and
product training seminars and conferences, (iii) application hosting, (iv) technical services, (v) consulting and
{v1) other remote services. Product support services included with sales of perpetual software licenses has a duration
of 12 months or less and the associated revenue is recognized at the time the software is shipped with the related
costs of providing the telephone support accrued for at the same time. Revenue from professional development and
product training seminars and conferences is recognized when the seminar or conference is held. Revenue from
other product support services and application hosting is initially recorded as deferred revenue and then recognized
as revenue on a straight-line basis over the term of the agreement, typically 12 months. Revenue from technical
services, consulting and other remote services is recognized as the services are performed or on a straight-line basis
over the contractual period. Deferred revenue includes: (i) amounts invoiced for products not yet delivered and
services not yet performed, (ii) advance invoicing on contracts and (iii) that portion of product support agreements
and subscription-based product sales that has not yet been recognized as revenue.

It is our practice to announce new products prior to when the products are ready for shipment o allow
customers sufficient lead time for budgeting and curriculum purposes. This practice can result in fluctuations in
backlog for orders of new products. These orders are generally filled within a relatively short period of time after the
preduct is ready for shipment. Registrations for seminars and conferences are generally received from customers in
advance of the events, resulting in a backlog for these services. Additionally, under district-wide implementations,
customers commit to a comprehensive solution consisting of products and services in advance of delivery of the
products and services. The delivery of backlogged products and services in certain periods can cause those periods
to have higher revenue and higher revenue growth rates than other periods.

Cost of sales consists of expenses associated with sales of our software and hardware products and the delivery
of services. These costs include: {i) personnel-related costs, {ii) costs of purchased materials such as our AlphaSmart
laptops, optical-mark card scanners, interactive response systems, educational products, training materials, manuals
and motivational items, (iii) shipping and freight costs, (iv) amortization of capitalized development costs and
(v) other overhead costs, We realize higher gross margins on our software sales than on our hardware and service
sales.

We expense all development costs associated with a software product until technological feasibility is
established, after which time such costs are capitalized until the product is available for general release to
customers. Capitalized product development costs are amortized into cost of sales, beginning when the product is
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available for general release, using the straight-line method over the estimated economic life of the product, which
is generally estimated to be 24 months.

Acquisition and Divestiture

On June 27, 2005, we acquired AlphaSmart, Inc., a provider of affordable, laptop computing solutions for K-12
schools. The results of AlphaSmart's operations are included in our consolidated financial statements since that date.
In February 2005, we consummated the sale of our Generation21 subsidiary, a non-core part of our business. The
results of Generation21, for all periods presented in our consolidated financial statements, are reflected as discon-
tinued operations. Amounts referred to in this Item 7 relate to continuing operations, except as otherwise indicated.

Results of Operations

Our results of operations can be affected by many factors including the general economic environment, state
and federal budgetary decisions and the length and complexity of the sales cycle for school districts. National
trends, federal and state legislation, Department of Education administrative policies and the way the foregoing
align with our products and services can impact our business. -

An important component of our software product strategy is a transition to a subscription-based software sales
model. We believe that a business model based on subscription-based software offers long-term advantages over
traditional perpetual licensing, including: (i} improved product utilization leading to higher levels of customer
satisfaction, (i) product adoption by more schools, (iii) more lifetime revenue per customer and (iv) a more
predictable and reliable revenue stream.

This transition can significantly impact reported financial results and customer ordering patterns. An
increasing proportion of customer orders attributable to our subscription-based product and service offerings
relative to customer orders of non-subscription-based offerings can result in a significant portion of a period’s sales
being initially deferred and recognized as revenue in future periods over the subscription term, generally 12 months.
This can result in reported revenue that significantly lags customer orders in a given period. Transitioning to
subscription-based software can also adversely impact revenue as our customers that already own our products
under perpetual license agreements may delay purchases of expansions, reading quizzes and math libraries while
they are contemplating a transition to subscription-based versions of our products. Also, after customers transition
to our subscription-based enterprise products, they no longer order reading quizzes and math libraries since this
content is included in their subscription. We believe that these factors influenced our results of operations in both
2007 and to a lesser extent in 2006.

Our Renaissance Place products are often sold at the school district level. District level sales are more
complex, have a longer sales cycle, and are typically for a larger dollar amount than sales made to individual
schools. Thus, revenues from district sales can be more uneven and are more difficult to accurately predict.
Consequently, our revenues and results of operations can be significantly impacted by the timing of large district
orders.

Since our Renaissance Place product and service offerings are typically sold on a subscription basis with a
term of 12 months, a greater portion of our revenue is initially deferred and recognized into income over the
subscription period. This can cause our revenue to show a greater decline than it would have if these products had
been sold as perpetual licenses, for which the revenue is recognized immediately upon shipment. Deferred revenue
increased- $13.7 million and $5.7 million, over the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively. The
increase in deferred revenue during 2007 was driven primarily by sales of subscription-based enterprise software
packages.

We took a one-time charge of $0.5 million in the first quarter of 2007 that related to a reorganization of our
product development resources and resulted in a reduction in staff and assets related to the laptop line. Qur net
income and results of operations was impacted in 2006 by a $1.9 million charge that was comprised of separation
expenses, primarily for former executives. Items that impacted 2005 were: (i) the acquisition of AlphaSmart, (ii) the
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divestiture of Generation21, (iii) the sale of our Madison, Wisconsin office building and (iv) recognition of the tax
benefit related to the settlement of certain state and federal tax positions in 2005.

The following table sets forth certain consolidated income statement data as a percentage of net sales, except |
that individual components of cost of sales and gross profit are shown as a percentage of their corresponding
component of net sales:

For the Years Ended
December 31,
2007 2006 2005
Net Sales: .
Products .. ... oo e e 184% Bl4% 81.1%
R T 21.6 18.6 18.9
Total met sales. .. ..o o e e 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%
Cost of sales: ,
Products . . o oo e e e, 185% 18.1% 13.7%
SEIVICES + vt vt v e e e e e e 50.8 48.2 394
Total costof sales .. . ... .ot e 25.5 23.7 18.6
Gross profit:
Products. ... ... e 81.5 819 86.3
RS L T 49.2 51.8 60.6 -
Total gross profit. ... ..ot e e 74.5 76.3 81.4
Operating expenses:
Productdevelopment. . . ... ... ... . i e 17.1 15.5 14.7
Selling and marketing . .. ............. ... i ., 334 30.2 26.5
General and administrative . .... . .. ... . 0 it e 13.9 14.6 11.1
Operating iNCOME . . .. .\ ittt ittt ittt e it e e aens 10.1 16.0 29.1
L0111 0 T 1.1 1.1 31
‘Income — continuing operations before income taxes ................ 1.2 17.1 322
Income taxes — continuing Operations. . . ...........c.uuveurrrranan 4.2 6.3 114
Income — continuing OPerations . . .. .. ...vv v eniir it 7.0 10.8 20.8 !
Income — discontinued operations . ....... ... it e 0.0 0.0 0.5 !
Net Income ... ... . i i e e e e e 7.0% 108% 21.3%

Years Ended December 31, 2007 and 2006

Net Sales. Qur net sales decreased by $3.6 million or 3.2%, to $107.9 million in 2007 from $111.5 million in
2006. A significant portion of this decline was related to our customers purchasing more subscription-based
products and services, particularly Accelerated Reader. Revenues from subscription-based products are initially
deferred and then recognized ratably over the subscription period, generally one year, while the majority of
revenues from non-subscription-based sales are recognized immediately upon delivery. During 2007, deferred
revenue increased by $13,7 million as compared to an increase of $5.7 million in 2006. Customer orders for our
products and services increased by approximately $5.2 million or 4.3% in 2007 as compared to 2006.

Product revenue decreased by $6.1 million, or 6.7%, to $84.6 million in 2007 from $90.7 million in 2006.
Product revenues decreased primarily due to the significant increase in deferred revenue and to a lesser extent due to
lower laptop sales.
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Service revenue increased by $2.5 million, or 12.2%, to $23.3 million in 2007 compared to $20.8 million in
2006. Service revenues increased primarily due to order improvements for technical services such as application
hosting and installations, and in professional development services, both remote and onsite, partially offset by the
impact of not holding a national conference in 2007.

Cost of Sales. The cost of sales of products decreased by $0.8 million, or 4.7.%, to $15.7 million in 2007 from
$16.5 million in 2006. As a percentage of product sales, the cost of sales of products was 18.5% in 2007, relatively
unchanged from 18.1% in 2006

The cost of sales of services increased by $1.8 million, or 18.2%, to $11.8 million in 2007 from $10.0 million in
2006. As a percentage of sales of services, the cost of sales of services increased to 50.8% in 2007 from 48.2% in
2006 primarily due to personnel and infrastructure additions that were required for some of our remote and technical
services, and to price reductions in some of our on-site professional development service offerings.

Qur overall gross profit margin percentage decreased to 74.5% in 2007 from 76.3% in 2006. This resulted from
the lower service margins and the higher proportion of total revenue attributable to services in 2007.

Product Development. Product development expense, which excludes amounts capitalized, increased to
$18.5 million in 2007 from $17.3 million in 2006. As a percentage of net sales, product development expenses
increased to 17.1% in 2007 from 15.5% in 2006. We capitalized product development expenses of $0.2 mitlion in
2007 compared to $0.7 million in 2006. Product development expenses were higher in 2007 primarily due to: (i)a
$0.5 million restructuring cost related to a partial reorganization of product development resources for the laptop
line in 2007, (i) the higher level of software development cost capitalized in 2006 than in 2007 and (iii) a
$0.3 million increase in research and development costs related to our United Kingdom products.

Selling and Marketing. Selling and marketing expenses increased by $2.4 million, or 7.1%, to $36.0 million in
2007 compared to $33.6 million in 2006. Selling and marketing expenses increased in 2007, partly due to increased
commissions as a result of higher customer order levels and partly due to salaries as a result of our sales force
expansion; partially offset by lower spending on advertising and direct marketing. As a percentage of net sales,
selling and marketing expenses were 33.4% in 2007 compared to 30.2% in 2006,

General and Administrative. General and administrative expenses decreased by $1.4 million, or 8.4%, to
$14.9 million in 2007 from $16.3 million in 2006, General and administrative expenses were lower in 2007
primarily due to the impact of a one-time executive severance charge taken in 2006. As a percentage of net sales,
general and administrative costs decreased to 13.9% in 2007 from 14.6% in 2006.

Operating Income. Operating income decreased by $6.9 million, or 38.6%, to $10.9 million in 2007 from
$17.8 million in 2006. As a percentage of net sales, operating income decreased to 10.1% in 2007 from 16.0% in
2006 due to the combined effect of the factors discussed above.

Other Income. Other income was unchanged at $1.2 million in 2007 and 2006.

Income Tax Expense — Continuing Operations. Income tax expense of $4.5 million, from continuing oper-
ations, was recorded in 2007 at an effective income tax rate of 37.5% of pre-tax income, compared to $7.0 million,
or 37.0% of pre-tax income for 2006. The higher tax rate in 2007 was primarily the result of the adoption of the new
accounting standard for uncertain tax positions, Financial Interpretation No. 48 (“FIN 48”). The method for
estimating, accruing and recognizing expenses and benefits of uncertain income tax positions under FIN 48 is
substantially different than under the previous accounting standard.

Years Ended December 31, 2006 and 2005

Net Sales. Our net sales decreased by $4.8 million or 4.1%, to $111.5 million in 2006 from $116.3 million in
2005. Revenues, excluding AlphaSmart laptops in both periods, declined by $12.2 million or 12.0% for the full year.
A significant portion of this decline was related to our customers purchasing more subscription-based products and
services, particularly Accelerated Reader. Revenues from subscription-based products are initially deferred and
then recognized ratably over the subscription period, generally one year, while the majority of revenues from non-
subscription-based sales are recognized immediately upon delivery. Duting 2006, deferred revenue increased by
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$5.7 million as compared to an increase of $1.8 millien in 2005, We believe that revenue excluding the impact of
laptops is a useful metric for investors because it provides a basis upon which to compare the performance of our
business, as it existed prior to the June 27, 2005 AlphaSmart acquisition, to earlier periods.

Product revenue, including AlphaSmart in both periods, decreased by $3.5 millior{, or 3.8%, to $90.8 million in
2006 from $94.3 million in 2005. The decrease was driven by the transition to more subscription-based sales
discussed above and generally lower order rates which impacted most product lines. This decrease was partially
offset by the inclusion of AlphaSmart’s results for the full year in 2006 as compared to a partial year in 2005.

Service revenue decreased by $1.2 million, or 5.5%, to $20.8 million in 2006 compared to $22.0 million in
2005. Service revenues were down due to decreased revenue from professional development services, primarily
onsite events, which was partially offset by increases in remote services such as consulting and application hosting.
Revenue from onsite events was impacted in 2006 by reduced pricing as well as our increased emphasis on remote
services.

Cost of Sales. The cost of sales of products increased by $3.5 million, or 27.4%, to $16.4 million in 2006 from
$12.9 million in 2005. As a percentage of product sales, the cost of sales of products increased to 18.1% in 2006
from 13.7% in 2005. The product cost of sales percentage increased primarily due to a higher proportion of sales
attributable 1o hardware in 2006 as compared to 2005 as we realize lower gross profit margins on hardware sales
than on software sales.

The cost of sales of services increased by $1.3 million, or 15.5%, to $10.0 million in 2006 from $8.7 million in
2005. As a percentage of sales of services, the cost of sales of services increased to 48.2% in 2006 from 39.4% in
2005. The higher cost of sales percentage is the result of personnel and infrastructure investments made in 2006, and
10 reduced pricing of our onsite events.

Our overall gross profit margin percentage decreased to 76.3% in 2006 from 81.4% in 2005. This resulted from
the higher cost of sales percentages in 2006, from both products and services, as discussed above. '

Product Development. Product development expense, which excludes amounts capitalized, increased to
$17.3 million in 2006 from $17.0 million in 2005. As a percentage of net sales, product development expenses
increased to 15.5% in 2006 from 14.7% in 2005. We capitalized product development expenses of $0.7 million in
2006 compared to $0.3 million in 2005. Product development spending was higher in 2006 due to the inclusion of
AlphaSmart for the full year as compared to only a partial year in 20035.

Selling and Marketing. Selling and marketing expenses increased by $2.9 million, or 9.3%, to $33.6 million in
2006 compared to $30.8 million in 2005. Selling and marketing expenses increased primarily due to our sales force
expansion, partially offset by reduced marketing expenses as we focus on a more targeted direct marketing
approach. As a percentage of net sales, selling and marketing expenses were 30.2% in 2006 compared to 26.5% in
2005.

General and Administrative. General and administrative expenses increased by $3.3 million, or 25.7%, to
$16.3 million in 2006 from $13.0 million in 2005. General and administrative expenses were higher in 2006
primarily due to: (i) a $1.9 million charge related to separation expenses, primarily for former executives, (i) a
$0.6 million increase in share-based compensation and (iii) the inclusion of AlphaSmart for a full year in 2006 as
compared to a partial year in 2005. As a percentage of net sales, general and administrative costs increased to 14.6%
in 2006 from 11.1% in 2005.

Operating Income. Operating income decreased by $16.1 million, or 47.5%, to $17.8 million in 2006 from
$33.9 mtllion in 2003. As a percentage of net sales, operating income decreased to 16.0% in 2006 from 29.1% in
2005 due to the combined effect of the factors discussed above.

Other Income. Other income decreased $2.3 million to $1.2 million in 2006 from $3.5 millicn in 2005,
primarily due to the sale of an office building which generated a $1.8 million pre-tax gain in 2005,

Income Tax Expense — Continuing Operations. Income tax expense of $7.0 million, from continuing oper-
ations, was recorded in 2006 at an effective income tax rate of 37.0% of pre-tax income, compared to $13.2 million,
or 35.3% of pre-tax income for 2005. In 2005, we recognized a tax benefit of approximately $0.8 million related to
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the favorable resolution of certain state and federal tax positions, which was the primary reason for the lower
effective tax rate in 2005. -

Discontinued Operations. In 2005 we realized a gain of approximately $0.7 million on the sale of Gener-
ation21, which includes a one-time tax benefit of $1.3 million. When combined with the operating losses incurred in
January and February 2005 for that subsidiary, the net income from discontinued operations totaled approximately
$0.6 million in 2005.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

As of December 31, 2007, our cash, cash equivalents and investment securities were $24.5 million, down
$5.6 million from the December 31, 2006 total of $30.1 million. During 2007, we generated operating cash flow of
$26.0 million.

At December 31, 2007, we had a $15.0 million secured revolving line of credit with a bank which is available
until May 31, 2009. The line of credit bears interest at either a floating rate based on the prime rate less 1.0%, or a
fixed rate for a period of up to 90 days based on LLIBOR plus 1.25%. The rate is at our option and is determined at the
time of borrowing. We also have a $2.0 million unsecured revolving line of credit with a bank available until
April 30, 2009. The line of credit bears interest based on the prime rate less 1.0%. As of December 31, 2007, the
lines of credit had not been used.

On April 17, 2002, our Board of Directors authorized the repurchase of up to 5,000,000 shares of our common
stock. On February 9, 2005, our Board of Directors authorized the repurchase of an additional 3,000,000 shares
under the stock repurchase program. No time limit was placed on the duration of the repurchase program.
Repurchased shares will become treasury shares and will be used for stock-based employee benefit plans and for
other general corporate purposes. During the period of January 1, 2007 through December 31, 2007, we repurchased
approximately 117,000 shares at a cost of $1.4 million. Since the original authorization of the repurchase program
in 2002, we have repurchased 7.8 million shares at a cost of $134.8 million. Depending on our stock valuation, cash
availability and other factors, we may repurchase additional shares as a beneficial use of our cash to enhance
shareholder value, )

We declared quarterly cash dividends of $0.05 per share in each of the four quarters of 2006. We declared
quarterly cash dividends of: $0.05 per share in the first and second quarter of 2007 and $0.07 in the third and fourth
quarter of 2007. We also declared a special dividend of $0.75 per share during 2007. We intend to continue to pay
quarterly cash dividends, subject to capital availability and a determination that cash dividends continue to be in the
best interests of the company and our sharcholders.

We believe our strong cash position coupled with cash flow from operations will be sufficient to meet both our
short-term and long-term working capital requirements.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements and Aggregate Contractual Obligations

We do not have any off-balance sheet transactions, arrangements, or obligations (including contingent
obligations), that would have a material effect on our financial results.

Operating Leases. We enter into operating leases, primarily for facilities that we occupy in order to carry out
our business operations. We utilize operating leases for some of our facilities to gain flexibility as compared to
purchasing facilities outright and limit our exposure to many of the risks of owning commercial property,
particularly with regard to international operations. These agreements are generally for terms of one to five years
and cannot be terminated by either the lessor or us for reasons other than breach of the lease agreement. We do not
anticipate early termination of any of these agreements. For each of the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and
2005, we incurred expenses of approximately $2.2 million, $2.0 million, and $0.9 million, respectively, related to
these operating leases.
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Purchase Obligations. We enter into commitments with certain suppliers to purchase components for our
hardware products, such as AlphaSmart computing devices, AccelScan scanners and the 2Know! response system.
‘The majority of these obligations will be satisfied within one year.

Tax audit settlements and deposits. We anticipate making cash payments related to the settlement of tax audits
or deposits for unsettled audit issues in the range of $0.8 to $1.6 million during 2008. The mid-point of this range is
included in the table below. Estimation of the amounts and timing of payments in periods after 2008 are highly
uncertain and therefore are not included in the table,

As of December 31, 2007, our approximate contractual obligations for operating leases, tax audit payments
and purchase obligations (by period due) were as follows:

Payments Due by Period

Less than 1 1-3 3.5 More than
Contractual Obligations Total year Years years 5 years
(In Thousands)
Operating lease obligations . . ........... $ 6,498 $2,225 $2,610 $1,259 $404
Tax audit related payments . . ........... 1,200 1,200 — —_ —
Purchase obligations . . ... ........,.... 3,668 3,668 — — —
Total. .. ... ... . ... ... $11,366 $7,093 $2,610 §1,259 $404 .

Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan. We have established a Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan
(“SERP”) for the provision of retirement benefits to members of our senior management., Under the terms of the
plan, participants elect to defer receipt of a portion of their compensation and invest their deferrals in certain mutual
funds which are nearly identical to the investment selections offered to participants in our 401(k) retirement plan.
Upon a SERP participant’s retirement {or certain other events), we have an obligation to repay the current market
value of the participant’s account balance. As of December 31, 2007, we have fully funded the $1.9 mitlion
aggregate contractual obligation for future payments to SERP participants, Payouts of our obligattons related to the
SERP are dependant on when participants leave service and how they elect to receive their accrued benefit
payments, which can range from a single lump-sum payment to a 10-year series of payments. Due to the inherent
unceriainties in predicting when the SERP obligations will be repaid, they are not inclnded in the above table. The
SERP is more fully described in Note 12 of our Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements,

Other Obligations. As of December 31, 2007, we did not hold any long-term debt obligations, long-term
purchase obligations or material capital lease obligations.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

The foregoing discussion is based on our consolidated financial statements, which have been prepared in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. The preparation of these
financial statements requires management to make judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts
reported in the financial statements and accompanying notes. Actual results could differ from those estimates. The
following is a list of our critical accounting policies defined as those policies that we believe are the most important
to the portrayal of our financial condition and results of operations and/or require management’s significant
judgments and estimates. This is not intended to be a comprehensive list of all of our accounting policies. Our
significant accounting policies are more fully described in Note 5 of our Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements.

Revenue Recognition. We recognize revenue from our software products in accordance with Statement of
Position No, 97-2 Software Revenue Recognition issued by the Accounting Standards Executive Committee of the
American Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Under this accounting standard, revenue is recognized when
the following have occurred: persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, product delivery and acceptance has
occurred or a service has been performed, pricing is fixed and determinable, and collectibility is probable, Revenue
is recognized as follows: (1) at the time of shipment to customers for perpetually licensed off-the-shelf software
products and related telephone support with a duration of 12 months or less sold with the product, (ii) on the
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percentage-of-completion basis for software products which require significant customization or modification,
(ii1) as seminars are performed for training and professional development services, (iv) straight-line over the term of
the support agreement for other software support agreements, (v) as the service is performed or on a straight-line
basis over the contractual period for technical and consulting services and (vi) straight-line over the subscription
period for subscription based products and services. Accordingly, management is required to make judgments as to
whether pricing is fixed and determinable, whether collectibility is reasonably assured and what the percentage of
completion is as of the financial reporting date.

Expenses are recognized and matched against revenues for the reporting period presented in the financial
statements. We record accruals for sales returns and doubtful accounts at the time of revenue recognition based upon
historical experience as well as other factors that in our judgment could reasonably be expected to cause sales
returns or doubtful accounts to differ from historical experience. Changes in such allowances may be required if
future returns or bad debt activity differs from our estimates.

Goodwill and Long-Lived Assets. We assess the value of our goodwill on at least an annual basis by comparing
its fair value with its carrying value. Fair value is determined primarily based on valuation analysis performed by
management using a discounted cash flow methodology. The valuation analysis requires significant judgments and
estimates to be made regarding future cash flows. Our estimates could be materially impacted by factors such as
competitive forces, customer behavior, product acceptance, specific industry factors and changes in interest rates.

In 2007 and 2006, our laptop revenues decreased primarily as a result of difficulties in integrating the selling
operations of AlphaSmart into our overall organization. We believe that our long-term strategies will be successful
in returning the laptop line to growth and higher levels of profitability.

We have goodwill of $44.2 million, a trademark of $3.0 million and other intangibles of $2.6 million related to
the laptop business. We reviewed the value of these assets for impairment at the end of 2007 and our review
indicated that there was no impairment at December 31, 2007. The valuation of any long-lived asset is inherently
subjective and dependent on projections of future operating results. If we do not achieve the estimated future
operating results, or if other key variables and assumptions change, these assets may be impaired in the future.

Software Support and Product Warranty Obligations. We record a liability for the estimated cost of software
support and hardware warranties at the time of sale. Estimated costs are based upon our historical cost experience of
fulfilling these obligations as well as other factors that in our judgment could reasonably be expected to affect those
costs, such as trends in the cost of providing telephone support and product return rates. If the actual costs of
fulfilling these obligations differ from our estimates, it could result in additional charges to cost of sales in future
periods.

Software Development Costs. We capitalize certain software development costs incurred after technological
feasibility is achieved. Capitalized software development costs are amortized on a product-by-product basis using
the straight-line method over the estimated economic life of the products, which is generally estimated to be
24 months. Amortization begins when the products are available for general release to customers. If the actual
economic life of our products is shorter than our estimates, it could result in an impairment charge in future periods.

Taxes. Atthe end of each interim reporting period, we estimate the effective income tax rate anticipated to be
applicable for the full fiscal year. The estimated effective income tax rate contemplates the expected jurisdiction
where income is earned (e.g., United States compared to non-United States), the estimated amount of certain tax
credits, as well as tax planning strategies. If the actual distribution of taxable income by jurisdiction varies from our
expectations, if the actual amount of tax credits varies from our estimates, or if the resuits of tax planning strategies
are different from our estimates, adjustments to the effective income tax rate may be required in the period such
determination is made.

We record a liability for uncertain tax positions based on our estimate of the potential exposure. Due to the
subjectivity and complex nature of the underlying issues, there is significant inherent uncertainty in these estimates.
Actual payments or assessments may differ from our estimates and require tax provision adjustments in future
periods.
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Recent Accounting Pronouncement

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 141(R) Business Combination (“SFAS 141R™). SFAS 141R
establishes principles and requirements for how an acquirer recognizes and measures in its financial statements the
identifiable assets acquired, the liabilities assumed, any noncontrolling interest in the acquiree and the goodwili
acquired. SFAS 141R also establishes disclosure requirements to enable the evaluation of the nature and financial
effects of the business combination. SFAS 141R is effective for us on January 1, 2009. SFAS 141R is not expected to
have a material effect on our consolidated financial statements,

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 160 Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Financial
Statements, an amendment of ARB No. 51 (“SFAS 1607), SFAS 160 will change the accounting and reporting for
minority interests, which will be recharacterized as noncontrolling interests and classified as a component of equity.
This new consolidation method will significantly change the accounting for transactions with minority interest
holders. SFAS 160 is effective for us on January 1, 2009. SFAS 160 is not expected to have a material effect on our
consolidated financial statements,

In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 159 The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial
Liabilities — Including an amendment of FASB Statement No. 115, (“SFAS 159™). This standard permits entities to
measure many financial instruments and certain other items at fair value. The objective is to improve financial
reporting by providing entities with the opportunity to mitigate volatility in reported earnings caused by measuring
related assets and labilities differently without having to apply complex hedge accounting provisions. The
provisions of SFAS 159 are effective for us on Janvary 1, 2008 and are not expected to have a material effect on our
consolidated financial statements.

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157 Fair Value Measuremenis, (“SFAS 157"), to establish a
consistent framework for measuring fair value and expand disclosures on fair value measurements. The provisions
of SFAS 157 are effective for us on January 1, 2008 and are not expected to have a material effect on our
consolidated financial statements.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

Interest Rate Risk. Our exposure to market interest rate risk consists of: (i) the increase or decrease in the
amount of interest income we can earn on our investment portfolio and (ii) the decrease or increase in value of our
investment security portfolio if market interest rates iricrease or decrease, respectively. We anticipate that we will
have sufficient liquidity to hold our investments to maturity; therefore, we do not expect to recognize any material
losses or gains related to an increase or decrease in market interest rates,

Market Risk. Our exposure to market risk relates to the quality of the holdings in our investment security
portfolic. The fair market value of our investments is subject to increases or decreases in value resulting from the
performance of the securities issuer, from upgrades or downgrades in the credit worthiness of the securities issuer,
upgrades or downgrades in the credit worthiness and the insurer of the securities and from changes in general
market conditions,

We seek to manage our exposure to market risk by investing in accordance with our corporate investment
policy as established by our Board of Directors. The goals of the policy are: (i) preservation of capital, (ii) provision
of adequate liquidity to meet projected cash requirements, (iii) minimization of risk of principal loss through
diversified short and medium term investments and (iv) maximization of yields in relationship to the guidelines,
risk, market conditions and tax considerations.

Qur investment policy permits investments in obligations of the U.S, Treasury department and its agencies,
money market funds, and high quality investment-grade corporate and municipal interest-bearing obligations. The
policy requires diversification to prevent excess concentration of issuer risk and requires the maintenance of
minimum liquidity levels. The policy precludes investment in equity securities except for the specific purpose of
funding the obligations related to our Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan (see Note 12 of our Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements). As of December 31, 2007, our investment securities had a market value of
approximately $17.2 million and a carrying value of $17.1 million. Due to the type and duration of our investments,
we do not expect to realize any material gains or losses related to market risk.
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Foreign Currency Exchange Rate Risk. The financial position and results of operations of our foreign
subsidiaries are measured using local currency. Revenues and expenses of such subsidiaries have been translated
into U.S. dollars using average exchange rates prevailing during the period. Assets and liabilities have been
translated at the rates of exchange on the balance sheet date. Translation gains or losses are deferred as a separate
component of shareholders’ equity. Aggregate foreign currency transaction gains and losses are included in
determining net income. As such, our operating results are affected by fluctuations in the value of the U.S. dollar
compared to the British pound, Canadian dollar, Euro and Indian rupee. At this time, foreign exchange rate risk is
not significant due to the relative size of our foreign operations and revenues derived from sales in foreign currency.
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Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of
Renaissance Learning, Inc. and Subsidiaries

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Renaissance Leaming, Inc. and subsidiaries (the
“Company”) as of December 31, 2007 and 2006, and the related consolidated statements of income, shareholders’ equity, and
cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2007. Our audits also included the financiai statement
schedule listed in the index at Item 15(a)(2). We also have audited the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2007, based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. The Company’s management is responsible for these financial
statements and financial statement schedule, for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting, and for its
assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying Management’s Report
on Internal Conirol ever Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is 1o express an opinion on these financial statements and
financial statement schedule and an opinion on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Qversight Board (United
States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit o obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial
statements are free of material misstatement and whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all
material respects. Our audits of the financial statements included examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts
and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by
management, and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. Our audit of internal control over financial reporting
included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness
exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Qur audits also
included performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audits provide a
reasonable basis for our opinions.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed by, or under the supervision of, the company's
principal exccutive and principal financial officers, or persons performing similar functions, and effected by the company’s
board of dircctors, management, and other personnel to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the
maintenance of records that, in reasonable deiail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the
company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial
statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and that receipts and expenditures of the company are
being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable
assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that
could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of the inherent limitations of internal control over financial reporting, including the possibility of collusion or
improper management override of controls, material misstalements due to error or fraud may not be prevented or detected on a
timely basis. Also, projections of any evaluation of the effectiveness of the internal contro! over financial reporting to future
periods are subject to the risk that the controls may become inadequate hecause of changes in conditions, or that the degree of
compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

As described in Note § to the Consolidated Financial Statements, on January 1, 2006, the Company adopted Statement of
Financial Acceunting Standard No. 123R, Accounting for Stock Based Compensation. As described in Note 8 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements, on January 1, 2007, the Company adopted FASB Interpretation No. 48, Accounting for
Uncertainty in Income Taxes.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of Renaissance Learning, Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2007 and 2006, and the results of its operations and
its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2007, in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America. Also, in our opinion, such financial statement schedule, when considered in
relation to the basic consolidated financial statements taken as a whole, presents fairly, in all material respects, the information
set forth therein, Also, in our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial
reporting as of December 31, 2007, based on the criteria established in fnzernal Control — Integrated Framework issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission.

/s/ DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP

Milwaukee, Wisconsin
February 27, 2008
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RENAISSANCE LEARNING, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
As of December 31, 2007 and 2006

2007

2006

(In Thousands,
Except Share and
Per Share Amounts)

ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents . ....... .. .. . . i $ 7,337 § 5953
[MVESIMENL SECHIILIES . . . v v vt et ettt e et e ae e e et s e 8,136 22,525
Accounts receivable, less allowance of $1,072 and $1,133, respectively .. ........ 8,791 10,528
IVEIOTIES . & o v o v o s e e e e e e et e e et e e e e 6,273 4,108
Prepaid eXPenses . . .. ..o 2,197 1,896
Income taxes receivable . . ... .. e 1,450 1,291
Deferred tax aSS€L .. ... ittt i [P 4,406 3,596
OthEr CUITENL ASSEIS & o« o v v e et e e e e et ettt ta it et ims e et iaaa s naas 300 97
TOtal CUITENE ASSBES .+ v v o v e e ettt ettt ta i ae e e st ia e 38,890 49,994
INVeSEMENL SECULIEES . . . o v vt st e e ettt at e e 8,982 1,625
Property, plant and equipment, Net . .. .. ... . L e 10,578 11,811
Deferred taX ASSL .« v o o v o e et e e e e e e e 1,587 _
GOOAWILL . .« . et s et e e e e 47,065 46,973
Other intangibles, NEL. . .. . oot i e e 5,579 6,124
Capitalized software, BEL . . ... ... ot tie 452 727
OUher NOM-CUITENE ASSEIS . .« .+« « v v ot e et et n e r s ta e 167 457
TOLAL ASSELS . « o« v v e e e et et et e e e $113,300 $117,711
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable . . . .. ... $ 2011 § 2782
Defermed FEVENUE . . . oo ittt e ettt e et e e e e e 35,675 23,751
Payroll and employee benefits .. ...... ... .. .. i 4,184 4,750
Other current Habilities. . . .o v e i e e et e e e 3,563 3,429
Total current Habilities. . o . v v vttt e e e it e e e e e e 45,433 34712
TS 1 a0 I £ =2 2 =1 4 L 1= O 2,707 885
Deferred compensation and other employee benefits .. ........ ... ... ..o 1,933 1,665
Deferred tax liability . . ... ... . . e — 878
Income taxes payable. . . ... ... .. e 5,104 —
Other noncurrent Habiliies . . . . .. o it e 136 —_
Total BAbIIHES . . . o o ot e e i ettt e e e e ettt e 55,313 38,140
Shareholders’ equity: ‘ '
Common stock, $.01 par; shares authorized: 150,000,000; issued: 34,736,647 shares
at December 31, 2007 and 2006 . . . ... ... .. e 347 347
Additional paid-in capital . ....... .. ... 52,683 54,125
Retained earnings . . .. ...ttt e 102,887 124,290
Treasury stock, at cost: 5,703,450 shares at December 31, 2007,
5,733,130 shares at December 31,2006 . ... ... ... .. .. (98,123) {99,265)
Accumulated other comprehensive income . ......... ... ... ..o i 193 74
Total shareholders’ equity . .. ... ... v i 57,987 79,571
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity. . ...... ... .. ... . oot $113,300 $117,711

The accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements are an integral part of these balance sheets.
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RENAISSANCE LEARNING, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
For the Years Ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005

2007 2006 2005
(In Thousands, Except Per Share
Amounts)
Net Sales:
Products . . .. e e $ 84,628 $ 90,750 § 94,296
BBIVICES . . . i e e e e e 23,304 20,778 21,987
Total met sales ... ... i e e e 107,932 111,528 116,283
Cost of sales: .
Prodacts . .. .. e e 15,673 16,455 12,917
Services .......... e e e e e 11,830 10,011 8,669
: Total cost Of SAleS . . ..o i i e e 27,503 26,466 - 21,586
i Gross profit. . . ... i e 80,429 85,062 94,697
| Operating expenses: '
Productdevelopment. . .. ...... ... ... . ... i 18,506 17,291 17,046
Selling and marketing . . . ... ... ... ... 36,042 33,639 30,778
General and administrative . ... .. i e e 14,951 16,330 12,989
Total operating eXpenses . . .. .. ... oot in e 69,499 67,260 60,813
Operating inCOME . . ... ... .ttt it e 10,930 17,802 33,884
Other income:
INferest IMCOME « .« o ottt it et e ettt e et e 1,009 1,078 1,324
Other, Met . ... e e e e 169 156 2,170
Income — continuing operations before income taxes . ........,..... 12,108 19,036 37,378
Income taxes — continuing operations. . . . .. ... ..., ..t 4,541 7,043 13,211
Income — continuing OPerations - - . . ..\ oo ot it v i e e vn e ans 7,567 11,993 24,167
Income — discontinued operations . ......... . ... ... . . ., — — 384
Net Income . ... . i e i e e e $ 7,567 8% 11,993 § 24,751
Earnings per share:
Basic
Continuing Operations . - .. ... .o v oet vt i oee e $ 026 $ 041 § 078
‘Discontinued operations . . .......... T 0.00 0.00 0.02
Netincome ... ... . e e $ 026 $ 041 $ 080
Diluted
CONtINUING OPELAtONS - .« v oo e e et et e ee e $§ 026 § 041 § 078
Discontinued operations . ... .........cv i 0.00 0.00 0.02
Net INCOME .« ..ot it et et e i e e $ 026 3% 041 § 080
The accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements are an integral part of these statements.
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RENAISSANCE LEARNING, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS® EQUITY
For the Years Ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005

Balance, December 31,2004 .........

Netincome ......... ... ........
Foreign currency translation . . ... ...

Comprehensive income . . .. ... ...
Dividends ($.20 per share) . ........
Stock repurchased for treasury . .. ...
Treasury shares issued for

purchase of AlphaSmart .......
Exercise of stock options . . .. ......
Excess tax benefits from share based
payment arrangements
Restricted stock grants . . ..........
Shared-based compensation . .......

Balance, December 31,2005 .........

Netincome ....................
Foreign currency translation . . ... ...

Comprehensive income . .. .......
Dividends ($.20 per share} . . .......
Stock repurchased for treasury . .. ...
Exercise of stock options . . ... .. ...
Payment for cancellation of stock

OPUONS ., . .. ... v s n s T
Share-based compensation . ... .....
Excess tax benefits from share based

payment arrangements ..........
Restricted stock grants . . ..........

Balance, December 31,2006 .........

Netincome ....................
Foreign currency translation . . . ... ..

Comprehensive income . . ... ... ..
Dividends ($.99 per share) .. .......
Stock repurchased for treasury ... ...

"Exercise of stock options . .........
Share-based compensation . ........
Effect of adoption of new acct

principle. .. ...... ... .. ...,
Excess tax benefits from share based

payment arrangements . .........
Restricted stock grants . . ... .......

Ba}ance, December 31, 2007 .. .......

Accumulated
Common  Additional Other Total
Stock Paid-in Retained Treasury Comprehensive  Shareholders’
Amount(1} Capital Earnings Stock Income {Loss) Equity
{In Thousands)
$347  $54490 3 99,689 $(70,213) $104 $ 84,417
—_ —_ 24,751 — — 24,751
— — —_ —_— 57 {(37)
24,694
— — (6,207) — — (6,207)
_ _ —  (32,374) — (32,374)
— 2,171 — 20,895 — 23,066
— (350} —_ 2,455 — 2,105
— 112 — — — 112
— (392) — 392 — —
— 53 — — — 53
347 56,084 118,233  (78,845) 47 95,866
— — 11993 — — 11,993
— —_ — — 27 27
12,020
— —  (5.936) — — (5,936)
— — —  (22474) - (22,474)
— 2) — 18 — 16
(1,001) — — — (1,001
— 687 — — — 687
— 393 — — — 393
— {2,036) —_ 2,036 — —
347 54,125 124290  (99,265) 74 79,571
— — 7567 — — . 1567
— — — —_ 119 119
7,686
— —  (28,699) — — (28,699)
_ 1 —  (1,435) — (1,434)
— (15) — 30 — 15
— 1,109 — — — 1,109
271) 271)
— 10 — — — 10
—  (2,547) — 2547 — _
$347  $52,683 $102,887 $(98,123) $193 $ 57,987

(1) Common Stock, $0.01 par value, 150,000,000 shares authorized.

The accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements are an integral part of these statements.
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" RENAISSANCE LEARNING, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
For the Years Ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005

2007 2006 2005
{In Thousands)

Reconciliation of net income to net cash provided by operating activities:

NetinCome . . . .o e e e e e e e e e e $ 7567 $ 1,993 $24,751
Income from discontinued operations . . ... ... ... .. ... ... e — — (584)
Income from continuing operations . .. ........... .. i, 7.567 11,993 24,167
Adjustments to arrive at cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization . . . . . . ... ... .. . e 3,838 3,541 3,179
Amortization of investment discounts/premiums. . . ... ........ ... ... ..., 34 163 396
Share-based compensation eXpense. . .. .. ... ... .. i e 1,109 687 53
Deferred Income taxes . .. .. .. ... ... . e (1,305) 2,719 1,437
Excess tax benefits from share based payment arrangements . . ... ........... (10 (393) (112)
Gainonsale of propenty . . .. .. ... e 30 4) (1,798)
Change in assets and liabilitics, excluding the effects of acquisitions and divestitures
Accounts receivable . . . ... . L L e e 1,737 938 1,903
Inventories . ... it e e e (2,165) (334) 568
Prepaid expenses . . .. ... oot e s (331 (291) (369)
INCOME BAXES . . o . vttt i e e e e e e 2,715 (975) (937)
Accounts payable and other liabilities. .. .. ....... ... ... ... ... (1,147) (1,405) {483)
Deferred revenue . . ... ... . it i e e e 13,747 5711 1,821
OUher CUITEIE @SSBIS o . 4 v v v vttt vt st s et ettt e e e (203) 293 1,460
L0 T 337 (375) 128
Cash provided by continuing operating activities . . . .. ... .. ......... ... .... 25,953 22,268 31,413
Cash used by discontinued operations ... ............., e e — — (116)
Net cash provided by operating activities . .. ... ....... ... ... ...... 25,953 22,268 31,297
Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchase of property, plant and equipment . ... ......... ... ... .. ... ...... (2,147) (2,819) (2,419)
Purchase of investment securities. . . . ... ... ... ... ... . ... e (26,441)  (20,040) (36.860)
Maturities/sales of investment securities . . ... ... ... ... ... . ..., 33,746 23,220 71,481
Capitalized software developmentcosts . .. .. ... .. ... .. .. ... . . . ., (203) (689) (279)
Proceeds from morgage note . . . ... ...ttt e — 5,909 —
Net proceeds from sale of property . .. ... ... .. . ... i 570 23 3,166
Net proceeds from sale of subsidiary . .. ................... e — — 75
Acquisitions of business, netof cashacquired. . . ............ ... ... . ... — — (33,970)
Cash provided by investing activities . . .. .. ... vttt sttt e 5,525 5,604 1,188
Cash used by discontinued operations . . ................ i iraernnn.. — — —
Net cash provided by investing activities . ... ...................... 5,525 5,604 1,188
Cash flows from financing activities:
Return of capital to minority interest . .. .......... ... i — (98)
Proceeds from exercise of stock options. ... ....... ... .. . i i 30 16 2,105
Payment for cancellation of stock options. . . . .......... ... . ... ... ... (1,001} —
Excess tax benefits from share based payment arrangements. . . .. ............. 10 393 12
Dividends paid . .. .. ... . . e (28,699) (5.936) (6,207}
Purchase of treasury stock ... ... ... i e e {1,435) (22,474) (32,374)
Net cash used by financing activities . . .. ......................... (30,094)  (29,002) (36,462)
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents . . .. ..................... 1,384 (1,130) (3,977
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of peried .. . ... ... ... .. ... ....... 5,953 7,083 11,060
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period . . . . ... ... ... .. ... .. ., $ 7337 % 5953 § 7,083

Supplemental cash flow informatton
Cash paid during the year for —
Income taxes (netof refunds) . ... ... ... ... .. ... .. .. .. .. ..... EEEREE $ 2979 $ 5281 §$11,121

The accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements are an integral part of these statements.
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RENAISSANCE LEARNING, INC, AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

{1) Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial results of Renaissance Learning, Inc. (“Renais-
sance Learning™) and our subsidiaries (collectively, the “Company”).

(2) Basis of presentation

Except as indicated, amounts reflected in the consolidated financial statements or the notes thereto, relate to
our continuing operations. Generation21 Learning Systems, LLC (“Generation21") was divested during the first
quarter of 2005 and, therefore, its results for all periods presented in the consolidated financial statements are
reflected as discontinued operations. All significant intercompany transactions and accounts have been eliminated
in consolidation. '

(3) Nature of operations

Renaissance Learning, Inc. is a leading provider of technology for personalizing reading, math, and writing
practice for pre-kindergarten through senior high (“pre-K-12") schools and districts. Our products accelerate
learning and improve test scores by facilitating increased student practice of essential skills, increasing the quality,
quantity, and timeliness of performance data available to educators, helping educators motivate students and
providing student access to low cost computing solutions.

Our educational software covers a wide range of subject areas including reading, early literacy, math, writing,
vocabulary and language acquisition. We provide customized assessment software to educational publishers, which
supports many of the popular textbook series used in K-12 and post-secondary educational institutions. Our flagship
product is Accelerated Reader, which provides educators with information for motivating and monitoring increased
literature-based reading practice and to support instruction. Our other software and service brands include: STAR
Reading, STAR Early Literacy, Read Now Power Upl, Accelerated Math, STAR Math, MathFacts in a Flash and
English in a Flash.

Our hardware products include AlphaSmart laptop computing devices that run curriculum-specific software
focused on skills improvement and real-time formative assessments. The units offer schools the ability to provide
students with significantly improved access to portable computing at a fraction of the cost of conventional personal
computers. Our 2Know! response system allows educators to easily encourage student classroom participation and
obtain instantaneous feedback that can be used to quickly assess student comprehension and performance.
Additionally, we sell our patented AccelScan optical-mark card scanner which is used primarily with Accelerated
Math to automate scoring and recordkeeping tasks.

We offer a full line of professional service and support solutions that integrate with, complement, and enhance
the effectiveness of, our products. Sold separately or bundted with our products to provide a complete solution, our
service offerings include professional development and product training seminars and conferences, report and data
analysis, program evaluation, guided implementation, remote web-based training, software support, software
installation, database conversion and integration services, and application hosting.

(4) Acquisition

On June 27, 2005, we acquired all of the outstanding common stock of AlphaSmart, Inc. (“AlphaSmart™), a
provider of laptop computing devices for K-12 schools. The results of AlphaSmart’s operations are included in our
consolidated financial statements since that date. AlphaSman products are easy-to-use laptop computing devices
that run curriculum-specific software focused on skills improvement and real-time formative assessments. The
units offer schools the ability to provide students with significantly improved access to portable computing at a
fraction of the cost of conventional personal computers.
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RENAISSANCE LEARNING, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

The aggregate purchase price was approximately $58 million, which consisted of $34 million in cash,
$23 million of our common stock {1,157,355 shares) and $1 million of transaction costs. The purchase price was
allocated to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed according to their estimated fair values. The values assigned
to tradename and customer relationships are based on an independent appraisal. The tradename has an indefinite life
and is not amortized. The customer relationships intangible has a 10-year estimated useful life and is being
amortized on an accelerated method (Note 6).

The following table includes our pro forma results of operations for the twelve months ended December 31,
2005. The pro forma financial information summarizes the results of operations for the period indicated as if the
AlphaSmart acquisition had occurred at the beginning of 2005. The pro forma information contains the actual
operating results of AlphaSmart with the results prior to the acquisition date adjusted to include the pro forma
impact of: the amortization of intangible assets, lower interest income as a result of the sale of available-for-sale
securities to fund the acquisition and the elimination of merger related costs. These pro forma amounts are not
necessarily indicative of the results that would have been obtained if the acquisition occurred at the beginning of
2005.

Twelve Months Ended
December 31, 2005

{In Thousands, Except
Per Share Amounts}

Net sales . ... e e $131,576
Income from continuing operations . ............. .. ... . . iiriinnnn.. 24,104
Earnings per share from continuing operations
Basic earnings pershare. . .. ... . .. L o, $ 075
Diluted earnings pershare . ...... ... ... . .. .. . i 0.75

(3) Significant accounting policies
{a) Use of estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amount
of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and
the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those
estimates.

(b) Revenue recognition

We recognize revenue from our software products in accordance with Statement of Position No. 97-2 Soffware
Revenue Recognition (“SOP 97-27) issued by the Accounting Standards Executive Committee of the American
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Revenues are recorded net of an allowance for estimated returns.
Allowances for bad debts are also recorded at the time of the sale.

Product revenue is derived primarily from the sale of educational software and hardware. Revenue from sales
of hardware is generally recognized when the product is shipped to the customer, Revenue recognition from sales of
our software depends on whether the software is: (i) off-the-shelf or customized and (ii) whether it is licensed on a
perpetual basis or as a subscription. We recognize revenue from off-the-shelf perpetually licensed software sales
upon shipment to customers. Subscription-based software sales are recognized as revenue on a straight-line basis
over the subscription period. Sales of software that require substantial modification or customization are recognized
as revenue using the percentage-of-completion method of accounting. Revenues and deferred revenues from
software that require substantial modification or customization are not significant in any of the years presented.
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RENAISSANCE LEARNING, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

Service revenue is derived from (i) product support services, (ii) professional development and product
training seminars and conferences, (iii) application hosting, (iv) technical services, (v) consulting and (vi) other
remote services. Product support services included with sales of perpetually licensed software have a duration of
12 months or less and the associated revenue is recognized at the time the software is shipped with the related costs
of providing the telephone support accrued for at the same time. Revenue from professional development and
product training seminars and conferences is recognized when the seminar or conference is held. Revenue from
other product support services and application hosting is initially recorded as deferred revenue and then recognized
as revenue on a straight-line basis over the term of the agreement, typically 12 months. Revenue from technical
services, consulting and other remote services is recognized as the services are performed or on a straight-line basis
over the contractual period.

Deferred revenue includes (i} amounts invoiced for products not yet delivered and services not yet performed,
(i) advance invoicing on contracts and (iii) that portion of support agreements and subscription-based product sales
that has not yet been recognized as revenue.

{c) Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets.

We evaluate the recoverability of the carrying amount of long-lived assets whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be fully recoverable. We evaluate the
recoverability of goodwill and other intangible assets with indefinite useful lives annually, or more frequently if
events or circumstances indicate that an asset may be impaired. Management uses its judgment when applying
impairment rules to determine when an impairment test is necessary. Examples of factors which could trigger an
impairment review include: (i} a significant decrease in the market value of an asset, (ii) a significant change in the
extent or manner in which an asset is used and (iii) significant adverse changes in legal factors or the business
climate that impact the value of an asset.

Impairment losses are measured as the amount by which the carrying value of an asset exceeds its estimated
fair value. Estimating fair value requires that we forecast future cash flows related to the asset subject to review.
These forecasts require assumptions about demand for our products and services, future market conditions and
technological developments. Other assumptions include determining the discount rate and future growth rates.
Changes 1o these assumptions could result in an impairment charge in future periods.

(d) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash amounts on deposit at banks and highly liquid debt instruments purchased with an original maturity date
of three months or less are included in cash and cash equivalents. Cash and cash equivalents consisted solely of cash
and time deposits at December 31, 2007 and 2006.

(e) Investment securities

LENTS

We classify our investment securities as “held-to-maturity,” “available for sale™ or “trading” in accordance
with the provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 115, Accounting for Certain Investments in
Debt and Equity Securities (SFAS 115).

Debt securities have an original maturity of more than three months and a remaining maturity of less than
24 months. Our investments in debt securities consist of auction rate securities and municipal bonds. Municipal
bonds are classified as held-to-maturity and are carried at amortized cost. The fair value of our debt securities listed
below is based on quoted market prices.

Auction rate securities are classified as available for sale. Auction rate securities are liquid investments with
interest rates that are reset through a “Dutch auction” process that occurs every 7 to 49 days, depending on the terms
of the individual security. The underlying securities have long-term maturities. Our auction rate securities are stated
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RENAISSANCE LEARNING, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

at cost, which closely approximates fair market value and, therefore, there were no unrealized gains or losses related
to these securities included in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss).

The equity securities we own are held for the purpose of funding our Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan
(“SERP™), as further described in Note 12. These equity securities are classified as trading and are therefore carried

at their current fair value based on quoted market prices, Our investments in equity securities consist entirely of

various mutual fund shares in amounts that conform to the aggregate investment selections of the participants in the
SERP.

Investment securities consisted of the following at December 31:

2007 2006

Carrying Fair Carrying Fair
Value Value Value Value

(In Thousands)

Debt securities due in less than | year:

Auction rate securities ... ...... .. ... ... ... ... $ 2500 $ 2500 $20,025 $20,025
Municipal bonds. . .. ... .. .. o L L 5,636 5,654 2,500 2,496
Current investment securities. . .. ............. 8,136 8,154 22,525 22,521
Debt securities due in 1 to 2 years;
Municipal bonds. . ....... .. .. . L. 7,051 7,078 — —
Equity securities:
‘Mutual fund investments. .. ................... 1,931 1,931 1,625 1,625
Non-current investment securities ............. 8,982 9,009 1,625 1_,625
Total investment securities . .. ................... $17,118  §$17,163  $24,150 $24,146

(f} Inventaries

Inventories are carried at the lower of first-in, first-out (FIFO) cost or market. Inventories primarily consist of
purchased materials which include laptop computing devices, optical-mark card scanners, interactive response
systems, educational products, training materials, manuals, and motivationat items.

(g) Advertising costs

Advertising costs are expensed as the advertising takes place. Advertising expenses for 2007, 2006 and 2005
were approximately $4.6 million, $6.5 million and $8.2 million, respectively,

(h) Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are recorded at cost and are depreciated over their estimated useful lives using
principally the straight-line method for financial reporting purposes. Maintenance and repair costs are charged to
expense as incurred, and renewals and improvements that significantly extend the useful life of an asset are added to
the plant and equipment accounts. Depreciation expense was $2.8 million, $2.5 million and $2.1 million for 2007,
2006 and 2005, respectively.

The estimated useful lives for property, plant and equiptnent are as follows: buildings-25 to 40 years; furniture,
fixtures and office equipment-5 to 8 years; computer and production equipment-3 to 5 years; vehicles-5 years; and
leasehold improvements-the lease term.

36




RENAISSANCE LEARNING, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

Net property, plant and equipment consisted of the following at December 31:

w0 2006
(In Thousands)

Land and IMprovements . ... ........uuveneernrreeceennnen s $ 1,146 $ 1219
BUIAINES .« o e v e e e e e et e et e .. 9587 9,967
Furniture, fixtures and office equipment. . .. ... ... ... .o 4,772 4,694
Computer and production eqUipment . . .. ... 12,870 11,474
101173 PP 1,490 1,713
Total property, plant and eqQUIPMENt . . . ... ..ottt 29,865 29,067
Less — accumulated depreciation and amortization .. ... .. .. .. e 19,287 17,256
Property, plant and equUIpment, NEL. . . ... ..o e vv e $10,578  $11,811

(i) Software development costs

We capitalize certain software development costs incurred after technological feasibility is achieved. Cap-
italized costs are reported at the lower of amortized cost or net realizable value. Capitalized software development
-costs are amortized on a product-by-product basis using the straight-line method over the estimated economic life of
the products, which is generally estimated to be 24 months. Amortization begins when the products are available for
general release to customers. All other research and development expenditures are charged to product development
expense in the period incurred. When capitalized software is fully amortized, the balance is removed from the
capitalized software and accumulated amortization accounts. Amounts capitalized were approximately $0.2 mil-
lion, $0.7 million and $0.3 million in 2007, 2006 and 20035, respectively. Amortization expense of approximately
$0.5 million, $0.4 million and $0.5 million for 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively, is included in cost of sales-
products in the consolidated statements of income. At December 31, 2007 and 2006, accumulated amortization of
capitalized software development costs was $0.4 million and $1.3 million, respectively.

(i) Sales and concentration of credit risks

We grant credit to our customers in the ordinary course of business. The majority of our customers are schools
or school districts, although we do sell some of our products through resellers. Concentrations of credit risk with
respect to trade receivables are limited due to the significant number of customers and their geographic dispersion.
In 2007, 2006, and 2005, no single customer represented more than 10% of net sales.

(k) Share-based compensation

Effective January 1, 2006, we adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123(R) Share-Based
Payments (“SFAS 123R”), using the modified prospective application transition method. The modified prospective
application transition method requires compensation cost to be recognized beginning on the effective date (a) based
on the requirements of SFAS 123R for all share-based payments granted after the effective date and (b) based on the
requirements of SFAS 123R for all awards granted to employees prior to the effective date of SFAS 123R that
remain unvested on the effective date. As such, prior periods will not reflect restated amounts.

Prior to January 1, 2006, we elected to follow the intrinsic value based method of accounting for stock options
consistent with Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25 Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees (“APB 257)
and to provide the pro forma disclosures of net income and earnings per share as if the fair value based method had
been applied. Under the intrinsic value method, compensation cost for stock options is measured by the excess, if
any, of the quoted price of our stock at the measurement date over the exercise price.

No stock-based employee compensation expense related to stock options or our stock purchase plans was
reflected in net income prior to January 1, 2006. SFAS 123R requires us to report the tax benefit from the tax
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Deferred tax assets consisted of the following at December 31:

2007 2006
{In Thousands)

Current deferred tax assets:

Deferred revenUe . . . .. i e e $1,768 % 1,002
Expenses not currently deductible . ... ... ... ... .. L. 2,638 2,534
- Net current deferred tax assets . .. ... vttt it et e 4,406 3,596
Noncurrent deferred tax assets (liabilities):
Deferred revenue .. ... ... i i e e 104 32
Expenses not currently deductible . . ... ... ... ... .o L oo L. 2,401 86
Depreciation and amortization. . . . .. e e e e e 495 388
Intangibles . . . . ... o e (1,413) (1,384)
Net noncurrent deferred tax asset (liability). ... ... ... oL 1,587 {878)
Total deferred taX ASSELS . . .. oo vttt it et e et et e $5993 $2718

(8) Uncertain Tax Positions - o

We file income tax returns with the U.S., various states and certain foreign jurisdictions, Our most significant
jurisdictions are the U.S. and the state of Wisconsin. We are no longer subject to examinations by the U.S. for years
before 2004. For Wisconsin and the remaining jurisdictions, with few exceptions, we are no longer subject to
examinations by tax authorities for years before 2003. We are not currently under examination by the Internal
Revenue Service. We are currently under examination by the State of Wisconsin for 2003 through 2006.

Effective January 1, 2007, we adopted FIN 48. This interpretation provides specific guidance on how
enterprises recognize and measure tax benefits associated with uncertain tax positions. As a result of the adoption of
FIN 48, we recognized a $0.3 million increase in the liability for unrecognized tax benefits, which was accounted
for as a reduction to the January 1, 2007 balance of retained earnings. We classify interest and penalties related to
unrecognized tax benefits as income tax expense. During the year ended December 31, 2007, we recognized
approximately $0.3 million of tax expense related to interest and penalties.

A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amount of unrecognized tax benefits is as follows:

Tax Interest & penalties  Total
{In Thousands)
Balance at January 1,2007. .. ....... ... .. ... .. ... ... $3,034 $1,159 $4,193
Additions for tax positions related to the current year .. ... . 730 40 770
Additions for tax positions of prior years ... ............ 61 265 326
Reductions due to lapse of applicable statute of limitations . . (55) an (72)
Settlements . ........ ... .. ..o, (Bl __(32 S _(113)
Balance at December 31,2007 . ................. ..... $3,689 $1.415 - 85,104

Included in the unrecognized tax benefits of $3.7 million at December 31, 2007 is $2.5 million of tax benefits
that, .if recognized, would reduce our annual effective tax rate. We do not anticipate that our total amount of
unrecognized tax benefits will significantly change during 2008 or that we will be required to make any payments
related to tax positions that will have a significant adverse impact on our financial position, results of operations or
shareholders’ equity. ‘ '
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Net property, plant and equipment consisted of the following at December 31:

007 2006
(In Thousands)

Land and improvements . . . ... ... oot $ 1,146 $ 1,219
Buildings .. . ..ottt e e 9,587 9,967
Furniture, fixtures and office equipment. . ... ... ... .. ... i 4,772 4,694
Computer and production eqUIPMent . . .. ... ... covii i 12,870 11,474
1071 7= o 1,490 1,713

Total property, plant and equipment . . .. ... ... .. i 29,865 29,067
Less — accumulated depreciation and amortization ... ............. . ... 19,287 17,256
Property, plant and equipment, net. . ... ... ... i $10,578  $11,811

(f) Software development costs

We capitalize certain software development costs incurred after technological feasibility is achieved. Cap-
italized costs are reported at the lower of amortized cost or net realizable value. Capitalized software development
‘costs are amortized on a product-by-product basis using the straight-line method over the estimated economic life of
the products, which is generally estimated to be 24 months. Amortization begins when the products are available for
general release to customers. All other research and development expenditures are charged to product development
expense in the period incurred. When capitalized software is fully amortized, the balance is removed from the
capitalized software and accumulated amortization accounts. Amounts capitalized were approximately $0.2 mil-
lion, $0.7 million and $0.3 million in 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. Amortization expense of approximately
$0.5 million, $0.4 million and $0.5 mitlion for 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively, is included in cost of sales-
products in the consolidated statements of income. At December 31, 2007 and 2006, accumulated amortization of
capitalized software development costs was $0.4 million and $1.3 million, respectively.

{j) Sales and concentration of credit risks

We grant credit to our customers in the ordinary course of business. The majority of our customers are schools
or school districts, although we do sell some of our products through resellers. Concentrations of credit risk with
respect to trade receivables are limited due to the significant number of customers and their geographic dispersion.
In 2007, 2006, and 2005, no single customer represented more than 10% of net sales.

(k) Share-based compensation

Effective January 1, 2006, we adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123(R) Share-Based
Payments (“SFAS 123R™), using the modified prospective application transition method. The modified prospective
application transition method requires compensation cost to be recognized beginning on the effective date (a) based
on the requirements of SFAS 123R for all share-based payments granted after the effective date and (b) based on the
requirements of SFAS 123R for all awards granted to employees prior to the effective date of SFAS 123R that
remain unvested on the effective date. As such, prior periods will not reflect restated amounts.

Prior to January 1, 2006, we elected to follow the intrinsic value based method of accounting for stock options
consistent with Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25 Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees (“APB 257)
and to provide the pro forma disclosures of net income and earnings per share as if the fair value based method had
been applied. Under the intrinsic value method, compensation cost for stock options is measured by the excess, if
any, of the quoted price of our stock at the measurement date over the exercise price.

No stock-based employee compensation expense related to stock options or our stock purchase plans was
reflected in net income prior to January 1, 2006. SFAS 123R requires us to report the tax benefit from the tax
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deduction that 1s in excess of recognized compensation costs (excess tax benefits) as a financing cash flow,
Restricted shares or restricted stock units are granted to certain employees and our directors. For employees,
restricted stock awards generally vest over a period of four years and for non-employee directors, upon termination
of the individual’s tenure on our board. Restricted stock awards to employees are expensed over the vesting period
and those made to our non-employee directors are expensed when granted.

During the year ended December 31, 2007, we recognized approximately $1.1 million in share-based
compensation expense related primarily to restricted stock and to a lesser extent, stock options as compared to
$0.7 million in 2006. Cash received from stock option exercises was approximately $17,000 in 2007 and $16,000 in
2006. The total income tax benefit recognized related to share-based compensation, which is recorded in additional
paid-in capital, was approximately $10,000 and $393,000 for the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006,
respectively.

The Black-Scholes option-pricing model was used to compute the fair value of each option granted for
purposes of the pro forma disclosures required by SFAS 123R. Had compensation cost in 2005 been determined for
the stock option grants based on the fair value method set forth under SFAS 123R, prior to its adoption, net income
and earnings per share would have been adjusted to the pro forma amounts indicated below:

20605

(In Thousands, Except
Per Share Amounts)

Net Income, as reported. . . . ... oo ittt e e $24,751
Add: share based compensation included in reported net income, net of tax. . . . 33
Deduct: total share-based compensation expense determined under fair-value
based method for all awards, net of tax. . . ... ...\ v, 2,518
Pro forma net income .. ............. e e $22 266
Basic earnings per share:
ASTEPOTIEA . ..o\ oot ottt $ 0.0
Proforma ........ .. . e 0.72
Diluted earnings per share:
Asreported . ... .. $ 0.80
Proforma ....... ... . . e e 0.72
The per share weighted average fair value of options granted under the plan
during the Year i1 . . ., ..ot e e $ 10.06

The fair value of each optton grant is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing
model with the following weighted average assumptions:

2007 2006 2005

Dividend yield . . .. ..ot o e 201% 1.39% 1.01%
Expected volatility .. .. ... .. ... .. . ... 48.21% 55.00% 57.08%
Risk-free interest Tate . . . ... ... ittt ie e et et naaes 437% 4.66% 4.00%
Expected life (inyears). .. ... ... ... 5 5 5

In April 2003, our Board of Directors approved the acceleration of vesting of the unvested stock options under
our 1997 Stock Incentive Plan. This resulted in options to purchase approximately 438,000 shares of our common
stock becoming immediately exercisable. All of the unvested stock options for which vesting was accelerated were
“underwater,” with exercise prices greater than the closing price of our common stock on the date of acceleration.
Vesting of the options was accelerated as part of our plan to transition the equity-based portion of our executive
compensation plan from stock options to grants of restricted stock, which we believe will be a more effective
performance incentive and retention tool. Also, accelerated vesting of the options produced a more favorable impact

38




RENAISSANCE LEARNING, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

on our future results of operations in light of SFAS 123R. Early vesting of these options resulted in approximately
$1.0 million less future compensation expense that would otherwise have been recognized over the remaining life of
the options beginning on January 1, 2006.

(1) Earnings per common share

Earnings per share is computed in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 128
Earnings per Share (“SFAS 128”). Basic earnings per common share (“Basic EPS™) is computed by dividing
income available to common shareholders by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during
the period. Shares issued and shares reacquired during the period are weighted for the portion of the period they
were outstanding.

Diluted earnings per common share (“Diluted EPS”) is computed similarly to Basic EPS except that the
weighted average number of shares outstanding is increased to include the number of additional common shares
that would have been outstanding if the potentially dilutive common shares had been issued. Our potentially dilutive
common shares consist of unexercised stock options and restricted shares.

The computation of Diluted EPS does not assume conversion, exercise or contingent issuance of securities that
may have an antidilutive effect on earnings per share. Consequently, stock options with an exercise price greater
than the average market price for the period are not included in the computation of potentially dilutive common
shares. For the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, there were approximately 833,000, 825,000 and
895,000, respectively, antidilutive options excluded from the computation of diluted earnings per share.

The weighted average shares outstanding are as follows:

2007 20 2008
Basic weighted average shares outstanding . . . ......... 28,792,337 29,551,309 30,966,501
Dilutive effect of outstanding stock options. . .. ........ 2,982 7,626 63,151
Ditutive effect of restricted shares. . .. ...... ... .. .. 31,301 10,325 20
Diluted weighted average shares outstanding. .. .. ...... 28826620 29,569,260 31,029,672

{m} Income tuxes

We account for income taxes according to the provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards
No. 109 Accounting for Income Taxes (“SFAS 1097). SFAS 109 requires an asset and liability based approach to
accounting for income taxes. Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are recorded to reflect the tax consequences
on future years of temporary differences between financial and tax accounting of revenue and expense items (see
Note 7). Valuation allowances are provided when it is anticipated that a deferred tax asset is not likely to be fully
realized. Effective January 1, 2007, we adopted Financial Interpretation No. 48 Accounting for Uncertainty in
Income Taxes (“FIN 48) and account for liabilities related to uncertain tax positions in accordance with its
provisions (see Note 8).

(n) Comprehensive income (loss)

Our comprehensive income (loss) includes foreign currency translation adjustments, which are included in
accumulated other comprehensive income in the consolidated statements of shareholders” equity. At December 31,
20077, 2006 and 2005, accumulated other comprehensive income consisted entirely of foreign currency translation
adjustments, which resulted from translation of the balance sheets of our international operations to U.S. dollars
using the exchange rate in effect on the balance sheet date.
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{o} Shipping and handling revenues and costs

We include shipping and handling fees billed to customers in net sales. The related shipping'and handling costs
are included in cost of sales.

{p) Sales, use and value added 1axes

We do not include sales, use, value added or similar taxes billed to customers in net sales.

{q) Product warranty and support obligations

We recognize expense for the estimated costs of hardware warranties and software support at the time the
related revenue is recognized. For hardware warranty, we estimate the costs based on historical and projected
produci failure rates, historical and projected repair costs, and knowledge of specific product failures (if any). The
specific hardware warranty terms and conditions vary depending upon the product sold, but generally include
technical support, parts, and labor over a period generally ranging from 90 days to three years. For software
warranty, we estimate the costs to provide customers with service during the term of the support period. We
regularly reevaluate our estimates to assess the adequacy of the recorded warranty and support liabilities and adjust
the amounts as necessary.

The changes in our aggregate product warranty and support liabilities were as follows:

(In Thousands)

Balance at December 31, 2005 . .ottt e e $ 1,297
Amount expensed for new warranty and support obligations and changes in estimates

for pre-existing obligations . .... ... ... .. . .. . . e 4,375
Cost of warranty and support provided during the year. ... .................... (4.477)
Balance at December 31, 2000 . ... ... oot e 1,195
Amount expensed for new warranty and support obligations and changes in estimates

for pre-existing obligations ... ... ... ... . . i e 4,5
Cost of warranty and support provided during the year. .. ..................... (4,463)
Balance at December 31, 2007 . .. vttt e e e e e e $ 1,303

(6) Goodwill and other intangible assets

Under Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 142 Goodwill and Other [ntangible Assets
(“SFAS 142™), we are required to assess goodwill and other intangibles with indefinite lives at least annually
for impairment by applying a fair-value-based test. We completed this testing in 2007 and 2006, and found no
instances of impairment.

The following table summarizes the change in goodwill during 2005, 2006 and 2007:

(In Thousands)
Balance at December 31, 2005 . . ... . . e 45,906
Acquisition — final allocation adjustment .. ............... ..., 1,066
Currency translation . . .. ... ... ...t e e 1
Batance at December 31, 2000 . . .. ... e e $46,973
Currency translation ... ......... ... . ... ... ..., e e 92
Balance at December 31, 2007 .. oo vt e e $47,065
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For the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006, and 2005, we recognized amortization expense of $0.5 million,
$0.7 million and $0.6 million, respectively, on other intangibles with finite lives. The tradename has an indefinite
life and therefore is not amortized. The customer relationships intangible has a 10-year estimated useful life and is
being amortized on an accelerated method. Intangible amortization expense is estimated to be $0.5 million,
$0.4 miltion, $0.3 million, $0.3 million and $0.3 million for 2008, 2009, 2010, 2011 and 2012, respectively.

Other intangibles consisted of the following:

December 31, 2007 December 31, 2006
Gross Accumulated Gross Accumulated
Amount Amortization Net Amount Amortization Net
(In Thousands)
Tradename ...................... $3,000 § — $3,000  $3,000 $ — $3,000
Customer relationships. .. ........... 4,150 1,571 2,579 4,150 1,026 3,124
Other intangibles . . .. .............. $7.150 $1,571 $5,579 §7,150 $1,026 $6,124

(7) Income taxes

The provision for income taxes from continuing operations consisted of:

2007 2006 2005
(In Thousands)

Current 1ax provision:

US.federal ... ...t s $5081 $3783 § 9840

State and 10Cal . . . . vt e e 696 518 1,850

FOTEIZM . ot v vt e it iie e e 69 23 34
Total current tax Provision . ... .....veee i aeaeen 5,846 4,324 11,774
Deferred tax provision:

US.federal . ... ..o e (1,231) 2,571 1,329

State and 10cal . . .. vt e (74) 148 108
Total deferred tax provision . ...... . ..o i (1,305) 2,719 1,437
Provision for inCOmMe taXES8 . .. .. v\ e it i e e $4,541 $7,043  §$13.211

Effective rate reconciliation:
2007 2006 2005
(In Thousands)
Income tax provision at statutory tax rate . . . $4239 350% $6,663 350% $13,083 35.0%
State and local taxes, net of federal tax

benefit . ... oo 379 31% 433 2.3% 1,273 34%
Federal tax credits and exclusions. . ... .... (469 (3.99% (82y (04)% 327 (0.9%
Resolution of prior period tax matters. . . . .. — 0.0% — 0.0% (658) (1.8)%
Provision for uncertain tax positions....... 507 4.2% 171 0.9% (121 (0.3)%
Other. . o i e e _(115) (0.9% _ (142) (0.8)% (39) {0.1)%

Provision for income taxes . . . ........... $4.541  37.5% $7,043 37.0% $13,211 353%
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Deferred tax assets consisted of the following at December 31:

2007 2606
(In Thousands)

Current deferred tax assets:

Deferred FeVENUE . . . .. . .t e $1,768 $ 1,062

Expenses not currently deductible . ... ... ... ... . oL 2,638 2,534
Net current deferred tax assets . . .. .. v i it et e 4,406 3,596
Noncurrent deferred tax assets (liabilities):

Deferred TEVENMIE . . . ..ttt et e e e e e 104 32

Expenses not currently deductible . . .. ... o ool 2,401 86

Depreciation and amortization. . .. ........... ... i 495 388

Imtangibles . . . ... ... (1,413) (1,384)
Net noncurrent deferred tax asset (liability). .. ...... ... ... ... ... . ... .. 1,587 (878)
Total deferred 1aX as5elS . . . . ot v ittt i et e e e e $5993 §$2,718

{8) Uncertain Tax Positions

We file income tax returns with the U.S., various states and certain foreign jurisdictions. Our most significant
jurisdictions are the U.S. and the state of Wisconsin. We are no longer subject to examinations by the U S, for years
before 2004. For Wisconsin and the remaining jurisdictions, with few exceptions, we are no longer subject to
examinations by tax authorities for years before 2003. We are not currently under examination by the Internal
Revenue Service. We are currently under examination by the State of Wisconsin for 2003 through 2006.

Effective January 1, 2007, we adopted FIN 48. This interpretation provides specific guidance on how
enterprises recognize and measure tax benefits associated with uncertain tax positions, As a result of the adoption of
FIN 48, we recognized a $0.3 million increase in the liability for unrecognized tax benefits, which was accounted
for as a reduction to the January 1, 2007 balance of retained earnings. We classify interest and penalties related to
unrecognized tax benefits as income tax expense. During the year ended December 31, 2007, we recognized
approximately $0.3 million of tax expense related to interest and penalties.

A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amount of unrecognized tax benefits is as follows:

Tax Interest & penalties Total
(In Thousands}
Balance at January 1,2007. . ... ... ... ... .. ... ..., $3,034 $1,159 $4,193
Additions for tax positions related to the current year . .. ... 730 40 770
Additions for tax positions of prioryears . .............. 61 265 326
Reductions due to lapse of applicable statute of limitations . . (55) a7 (72)
Settlements . ....... . 0.t (81) (32) S (113)
Balance at December 31,2007 . . .......... ... ........ $3,689 $1,415 $5,104

Included in the unrecognized tax benefits of $3.7 million at December 31, 2007 is $2.5 million of tax benefits
that, if recognized, would reduce our annual effective tax rate. We do not anticipate that our total amount of
unrecognized tax berefits will significantly change during 2008 or that we will be required to make any payments
related to tax positions that will have a significant adverse impact on our financial position, results of operations or
shareholders’ equity.
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(9) Lines of credit

We have a $15.0 million secured revolving line of credit with a bank, which is available until May 31, 2009.
The line of credit bears interest at either a floating rate based on the prime rate less 1.0%, or a fixed rate for a period
of up to 90 days based on LIBOR plus 1.25%. The rate is at our option and is determined at the time of borrowing.
We also have a $2.0 million unsecured revolving line of credit with a bank available until April 30, 2009. The line of
credit bears interest based on the prime rate less 1.0%. As of December 31, 2007 and 2006, the lines of credit had not
been used.

(10} Lease commitments

We are party to various operating leases for office and warehouse facilities we occupy to carry out our business
operations. Certain of these leases provide for scheduled rent increases based on price-level factors. We have not
entered into leases that call for contingent rent. In most cases, management expects that, in the normal course of
business, leases will be renewed or replaced. Approximate rent expense for 2007, 2006 and 2005 was $2.2 million,
$2.0 million and $0.9 million, respectively.

Future approximate minimum rental payments (including estimated operating costs) required under operating
leases as of December 31, 2007 are as follows:
(In Thousands)

B008B. .« v e e e e e $2,225
2000, .o\ et e 1,508
2010, . o e et 1,102
7701 5 U 716
7111 J 543
AT 2002 o\ e e e e 4

$6,498

(11) Litigation

We are subject to various claims and proceedings covering a wide range of maiters that arise in the ordinary
course of business activities. We believe that any liability that may ultimately arise from the resolution of these
matters will not have a material adverse effect on our financial position, results of operations or shareholders’
equity.

(12) Retirement plans

In order to provide retirement benefits for our employees, we have established a defined contribution 401(k)
Savings Plan covering all employees in the United States who meet certain service requirements and a Supple-
mental Executive Retirement Plan (“SERP”) available to senior management.

Employees participating in the 401(k) plan may elect to contribute up to 50% of their annual pretax
compensation subject to certain IRS limitations. SERP participants may elect to defer up to 20% of their annual
pretax compensation to the SERP.

Vesting and employer matching contributions are the same under both plans. Vesting of employer contri-
butions takes place ratably over an employee’s first four years of service with full vesting of past and future
employer contributions once four years of service is reached.

Employer matching contributions are currently $0.75 for each $1.00 contributed by a participant and are
limited to a maximum of 4.5% of a participant’s pretax compensation. For those employees participating in the
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SERP, the maximum employer contribution is determined on a combined basis with the 401(k) plan. Discretionary

employer contributions may also be made to the plans. No discretionary contributions were made to the plans in
2007, 2006 or 2005.

SERP participants elect to defer receipt of a portion of their compensation and invest their deferrals in certain
mutual funds, which are nearly identical to the investment selections offered to participants in our 401(k) plan. The
liability for the SERP is included in deferred compensation and other employee benefits. The SERP is fully funded
and the related investments are classified as investment securities on our consolidated balance sheets, Our liability
for the SERP was $1.9 million at December 31, 2007 and $1.6 million, at December 31, 2006.

The following summarizes our expense under these retirement plans:

w07 206 2008
(In Thousands)
Employer matching contribution —401(k) Plan. . ................ $1,459 31318 $1,027
Employer matching contribution — SERP .. .. ... ... ... ... ... 18 15 16
Total . ... e e e e e $1477  $1.333  $1,043

(13) Stock incentive plan

We have established the 1997 Stock Incentive Plan (the “Plan”) for our officers, key employees, non-employee
directors and consultants. A combined maximum of 6,000,000 options, stock appreciation rights (“SARs™) and
share awards may be granted under the plan. No incentive stock options (“ISOs”) or SARs have been granted under

the Plan. At December 31, 2007, there were approximately 2.2 million shares available for issuance uader our 1997
Stock Incentive Plan.

{a) Stock option awards — Options granted under the Plan may be in the form of nonqualified stock options
(“NSOs”) or 180s which comply with Section 422 of the Internal Revenue Code. The exercise price of the options is
the market value of our common stock at the date of grant. Options become exercisable ratably over their respective

vesting period which ranges from immediate vesting up to a four year vesting period. The options expire 10 years
from the grant date.

A summary of stock option activity under the plan is as follows:

2007 2006 2005
Weighted Weighted Weighted
hverage avernge average
exerclse exercise exercise
Shares price Shares price Shares price
Outstanding at beginning of year . . . .. - 895,516, $2296 1,519,820 $22.42 1,625,038 $22.85
Granted. . . ......... . .coueeirinn.. 11,551 12.37 9616 14.86 223,044 20.58
Exercised .. ....o.ooiereann . (1,755)  8.88  (241,149)* 1354  (135880) 1549
Forfeitures. . ............. .. ... . ... (25,015 23.06 (392,771) 26.47 (192,382) 28.82
Outstanding atend of year. . .. ... ... .. 880,297 22.85 895,516 22.96 1,519,820 22.42
Options exercisable at end of year ... ... 880,297  $22.85 893297 $2298 1,515,381 §22.44

* Includes 240,119 of shares related 10 payment of $1,000,501 10 cancel in-the-money options, primarily of the
company’s former chief executive officer in 2006.
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The following table summarizes information about stock options outstanding at December 31, 2007

Exercisable and Qutstanding Options
Weighted Average Weighted

Range of Options Remaining Average
Exercise price Outstanding Contractual Life Exercise Price
$8.00t0%16.00. . ...... ... 76,599 3.26 $12.59
$16.01 t0 $2200. . ... ... o 420,093 4.07 17.82
$22010$29.00. . ....... .. . i, 95,819 6.41 24.48
$2001t0834.00. ... ... 186,427 342 60.63
$3401t0$4000. . . ... ..o e 100,825 292 3546
$40.01 10 $52.00. ..o v v i 534 3.55 51.49
$83.00t0 851,58, ... ... 880,297 3.9 $22.85

(b) Restricted stock awards — Restricted shares or restricted stock units are granted to certain cmployees and
our directors. For employees, restricted stock awards generally vest over a period of four years and for non-
employee directors, upon termination of the individual’s tenure on our board. Restricted stock awards to employees
are expensed over the vesting period, and those made to our non-employee directors are expensed when granted.

Unearned restricted stock compensation is recorded based on the market price on the grant date and is
expensed equally over the vesting period. In 2007, 153,401 restricted shares were granted at a weighted average
market price at the grant date of $12.93 and compensation expense related to restricted shares was approximately
$1.0 million for the year. In 2006, 125,056 restricted shares were granted at a weighted average market price at the
grant date of $14.16 and compensation expense related to restricted shares was approximately $0.6 million for the
year. In 2005, 23,409 restricted shares were granted at a weighted average market price at the grant date of $22.70
and compensation expense related to restricted shares was $53,000 for the year.

(14) Shareholders’ equity

On April 17, 2002, our Board of Directors authorized the repurchase of up to 5,000,000 shares of our common
stock. On February 9, 2005, our Board of Directors authorized the repurchase of an additional 3,000,000 shares of
common stack. No time limit was placed on the duration of the repurchase program. Repurchased shares will
become treasury shares and will be used for share-based employee compensation plans and for other general
corporate purposes. Since initial authorization was granted, we have repurchased 7.8 million common shares of
common stock at a cost of $134.8 million under this repurchase program.

A summary of stock repurchase activity is as follows:
Aggregate annual

Weighted average cost of
Number of shares repurchased price repurchased
repurchased per share* stock®
2007 . s 117,480 $12.22 $ 1,435,099
2006 . ... e s 1,461,216 $15.38 $22,474,628
2005 . ... 1,837,231 $18.00 $32,373,719

* Includes broker commission

On April 14, 1999, our shareholders approved an amendment to the Company’s Amended and Restated
Articles of Incorporation to increase the authorized common stock of the Company from 50,000,000 shares to
150,000,000 shares with a $.01 par value per share. The Company’s Amended and Restated Articles of Incor-
poration also includes authorization to issue up to 5,000,000 shares of preferred stock with a $.01 par value per
share. No preferred stock has been issued.
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RENAISSANCE LEARNING, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continved)

(15) Segment reporting

Statement of Financial Accounting Statement No. 131 Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and
Related Information (“SFAS 1317) establishes annual and interim reporting standards for an enterprise’s business
segments and related disclosures about its products, services, geographic areas and major customers. The method of
determining what information to report is based on the way management organizes the operating segments within
the Company for making operating decisions and assessing financial performance. In addition, SFAS 131 applies
both qualitative and quantitative aggregation rules to operating segments in order to determine the final reportable
segments. Under SFAS 131, we have one reportable segment. Foreign market operations are not significant at this
time.

(16) Quarterly resuits of operations (unaudited)

The following table sets forth unaudited consolidated income statement data for each quarter of the last two
fiscal years. This unaudited quarterly financial information is prepared on the same basis as the annual information
presented in the consolidated financial statements and, in our opinion, reflects all adjustments (consisting of normal
recurring entries) necessary for a fair presentation of the information. The operating results for any quarter are not
necessarily indicative of results for future periods.

Quarter Ended
March 31 June 30 September 30 December 31
(In Thﬂusands, Except Per Share Amounts)

2007
Netsales . ... ... ot 326,688  $27,177 325,809 $28,258
Grossprofit ....... ... .. ... .. ... ........ ... 20,118 20,244 18,969 21,098
Operating iNCOME . . . oot ettt ettt ee e 1,805 3,161 1,398 4,066
Income — before income taxes . .................. 2,107 3,485 2,188 4,328
INCOME LaXES . . vttt e e e it i iin e 790 1,307 821 1,623
Netincome. ... ... ... i 1,317 2,178 1,367 2,705
Earnings pershare: ... ... ... ... . ... . L
Basicanddiluted . ... ... ... ... ... ... ....... 0.05 0.08 0.05 0.09
Common stock price per share:
High. . ... .. . 17.94 13.29 13.81 15.75
Low .. 12.51 10,97 10.92 11.37
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RENAISSANCE LEARNING, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)
Quarter Ended

March 31 June 30 September 30  December 31
{(In Thousands, Except Per Share Amounts)

2006
Net Sales ..o i it et et e e $31,117  $29,319 $25,167 $25,925
Grossprofit . ........ .. .. i 23,983 22,462 18,768 19,849
Operating InCOME . . . ... ..o vuinenrerrerennnn- 5,240 7,076 2,987 2,499
Income — before income taxes . . ................. 5,522 7419 3,303 2,792
INCOME tAXES . & vt it e e e e et e ee et ea e eemn e 2,043 2,745 1,222 1,033
Netincome. . ... oottt ns 3479 4,674 2,081 1,759
Earnings per share:
Basicanddiluted .............. ... ... ... ... 0.12 0.16 0.07 0.06
Common stock price per share:
High....... .. i 19.96 17.21 15.19 18.76
LOW o e 15.98 12.64 10.61 13.71

Earnings per share amounts for each quarter are required to be calculated independently and therefore may
not total to the amount calculated for the year.

{17) Recent accounting pronouncements

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 141(R) Business Combinations (“SFAS 141R”). SFAS 141R
establishes principles and requirements for how an acquirer recognizes and measures in its financial statements the
identifiable assets acquired, the liabilities assumed, any noncontrolling interest in the acquiree and the goodwill
acquired. SFAS 141R also establishes disclosure requirements to enable the evaluation of the nature and financial
effects of the business combination. SFAS 141R is effective for us on January 1, 2009. SFAS 141R is not expected to
have a material effect on our consolidated financial statements.

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 160 Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Financial
Statements, an amendment of ARB No. 51 (“SFAS 160”). SFAS 160 will change the accounting and reporting for
minority interests, which will be recharacterized as noncontrolling interests and classified as a component of equity.
This new consolidation method will significantly change the accounting for transactions with minority interest
holders. SFAS 160 is effective for us on January 1, 2009. SFAS 160 is not expected to have a material effect on our
consolidated financial statements.

In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 159 The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial
Liabilities — Including an amendment of FASB Statement No. 115 (“SFAS 159”). This standard permits entities to
measure many financial instruments and certain other items at fair value. The objective is to improve financial
reporting by providing entities with the opportunity to mitigate volatility in reported earnings caused by measuring
related assets and liabilities differently without having to apply complex hedge accounting provisions. The
provisions of SFAS 159 are effective for us on January 1, 2008 and are not expected to have a material effect on our
consolidated financial statements.

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157 Fair Value Measurements (“SFAS 157, to establish a
consistent framework for measuring fair value and expand disclosures on fair value measurements. The provisions
of SFAS 157 are effective for us on January 1, 2008 and are not expected to have a material effect on our
consolidated financial statements.
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(18) Discontinued operations

In February 2003, we consummated the sale of our Generation21 subsidiary, a non-core part of our business,
for $75,000. The results of Generation2! for all periods presented in our consolidated financial statements are
reflected as discontinued operations.

Results of discontinued operations consist of the following:

2005

(In Thousands)
COPErating J08S. - . . e e $(192)
Income tax benefit ... ... . .. .. L. 76
Loss from operations, net. . .. ... ... ittt _(Q1e6)
Lossondisposal . . ... ... . . e e, (642)
Tax benefitondisposal . . ... ... ... ... . ... .. _1,342
Gainondisposal, net .. ... ... . .. e __ 700
Gain from discontinued operations, net .. ..., .. ... .. .. ﬁ

(19) Subsequent event

~ On February 6, 2008 our Board of Directors declared a quarterly cash dividend of $0.07 per share. The board
aiso authorized the purchase of an additional 1.0 million shares under the stock repurchase program. With this
authorization, we may repurchase an additional 1.2 million shares as of that date.
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Item 9. Changes In and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

Not applicable.

Item 9A. Conirols and Procedures
Conclusion Regarding the Effectiveness of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our chief executive officer and
chief financial officer, we conducted an evaluation of our disclosure contrels and procedures, as such term is defined
under Rule 13a-15(e) promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act™).
Based on this evaluation, management, including our chief executive officer and chief financial officer, concluded
that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of December 31, 2007.

There has been no change in our internal control over financial reporting that has occurred during the quarter
ended December 31, 2007 that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal
control over financial reporting. ‘

Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial
reporting, as such term is defined under Rule 13a-15(f) promulgated under the Exchange Act. Under the supervision
and with the participation of our management, including our chief executive officer and chief financial officer, we
conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting based on the framework
in Internal Control — Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission. Based on our evalvation using the framework in Internal Control — Integrated Frame-
work, our management concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31,
2007 and during the year then ended.

The effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting has been audited by Deloitte & Touche LLP,
our independent registered public accounting firm, as stated in their report which is included herein.

Item 9B. Other Information

Not applicable.
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PART III

Item 10. Directors and Executive Officers of the Registrant
(a) Executive Officers. Reference is made to “Executive Officers of the Registrant” in Part I hereof.

(b) Directors. The information required by this Item is set forth in our Proxy Statement for the Annual
Meeting of Shareholders to be held on April 16, 2008 under the caption “Proposal One: Election of Directors,”
which information is incorporated by reference herein.

(c) Section 16 Compliance. The information required by this Item is set forth in our Proxy Statement for the
Annval Meeting of Shareholders to be held on April 16, 2008 under the caption “Section 16(a) Beneficial
Ownership Reporting Compliance,” which information is incorporated by reference herein.

~(d) Code of Ethics. We have adopted a code of ethics pursuant to Item 406 of Regulation S-K. A copy of our
code of ethics is incorporated by reference herein (see Exhibit 14.1 of Exhibit Index).

(e) Audit Committee and Audit Commitiece Financial Expert. The information required by this Item is set
forth in our Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be held on April 16, 2008 under the caption
“Proposal One: Election of Directors - Audit Committee,” which information is incorporated by reference herein. -

Item 11. Executive Compensation

The information required by this hem is set forth in our Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting of
Shareholders to be held on April 16, 2008 under the captions “Executive Compensation,” “Non-Employee Director
Compensation,” “Compensation Committee Report” and “Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Par-
ticipation,” which information is incorporated by reference herein.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder
Matters

The information required by ltem 403 of Regulation $-K is set forth in our Proxy Statement for the Annual
Meeting of Shareholders to be held on April 16, 2008 under the caption “Security Ownership of Management and
Certain Beneficial Owners,” which information is incorporated by reference herein.
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The information required by Item 201(d) of Regulation S-K is set forth below.

EQUITY COMPENSATION PLAN INFORMATION

The following table sets forth certain information about shares of our common stock outstanding and avaitable
for issuance under our existing equity compensation plans, which consist of our 1997 stock incentive plan and our
1998 employee stock purchase plan (this latter plan is currently inactive). The table details securities authorized for
issuance under our equity compensation plans as of December 31, 2007. The table below does not include awards,
exercises or cancellations under our equity compensation plans subsequent to December 31, 2007.

Number of Securities
Available for Future

Number of Securities Issuance Under
to be Issued Upon Weighted-Average Equity Compensation
Exercise of Exercise Price of Plans {Excluding
QOutstanding Options,  Qutstanding Options, Securities Reflected
Plan category Warrants and Rights Warrants and Rights in First Column)
Equity compensation plans approved by
security holders . .................... 880,297 $22.85 2,426,597(1)
Equity compensation plans not approved by
security holders(2) ................... N/A N/A N/A
Total ... ... . . 880,297 $22.85 2,426,597

(1) Of the 6,000,000 shares authorized for issuance under oor 1997 stock incentive plan, 2,187,203 remain
available for future issuance as of December 31, 2007. Under our 1998 employee stock purchase plan (ESPP),
239,394 shares remain available for future issuance. We did not offer the ESPP to employees in 2007 and do not
intend to offer the plan to employees in 2008.

(2) Both of the company’s equity compensation plans have been approved by shareholders,

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions

The information required by this Item is set forth in our Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting of
Shareholders to be held on April 16, 2008 under the caption “Certain Relationships and Transactions,” which
information is incorporated by reference herein.

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services

The information required by this Item is set forth in our Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting of
Shareholders to be held on April 16, 2008 under the caption “Audit Committee Report,” which information is
incorporated by reference herein.
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PART 1V

Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

(a)(1) Financial Statements,

Consolidated Financial Statements

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2007 and 2006

Consolidated Statements of Income for the vears ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005

Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and
2005

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(a)(2) Financial Statement Schedules.

See the Exhibit Index, which is incorporated by reference herein.
(a)(3) Exhibits.

See (b) below.
(b)  Exhibits.

See the Exhibit Index, which is incorporated by reference herein.

(¢) Financial Statements Excluded from Annual Report to Shareholders.

Not applicable.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has
duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

RENAISSANCE LEARNING, INC.

By: /s/ TerranNce D. PauL

Terrance D. Paul
Chief Executive Officer and a Director

Date: February 27, 2008

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the
following persons on behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated:

Name

/s/  TEerrance D. PauL

Terrance D. Paul

/s/ Mary T. MiNCcH

Mary T. Minch

Title Date
Chief Executive Officer February 27, 2008
{Principal Executive Officer) and a
Director
Senior Vice President-Finance, February 27, 2008

Chief Financial Officer and
Secretary (Principal
Financial and Accounting
Officer)

Directors: Judith A. Paul, Addison L. Piper, John H. Grunewald, Gordon H. Gunnlaugsson, Harold E. Jordan and

Judith A. Ryan

By: fs/  Mary T. MincH

Mary T. Minch
Attorney-In-Fact*

February 27, 2008

* Pursuant to authority granted by powers of attorney, copies of which are filed herewith.
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Exhibit Index

Exhibit
Number Exhibit
3.1 Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation of Registrant, as amended.(1)
32 Amended and Restated By-Laws of Registrant, as amended.(2)
4.1 Form of Stock Certificate.(3)
10.1 Amended and Restated Employee Stock Purchase Plan.(4)*
10.2 1997 Stock Incentive Plan (Amended and Restated Effective April 16, 2003).(5)*
10.3 Incentive Bonus Plan.(6)* ’
10.4 Form of Nonstatutory Stock Option Agreement between Registrant and certain employees and consultants.(7)*
10.5 Form of Nonstatutory Stock Option Agreement between Registrant and certain non-employee directors.(7)*¥
10.6 Form of Restricted Stock Agreement with cenain executive officers.(8)*
10.7 Form of Restricted Stock Agreement with certain non-employee directors,(8)*
10.8 Form of Restricied Stock Unit Agreement with certain non-employee directors.(9)*
10.9 Form of Non-Employee Director Indemnification Agreement.(10)

10,10 Credit Agreement dated as of October i, 2007 by and between Registrant and Wells Fargo Bank, National
Association.(11)

14.1 Code of Business Conduct and Ethics.(12)

211 Subsidiaries of Registrant.

23.1 Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm, '

24.1 Directors’ Powers of Attorney.

3.1 Section 302 Certification by Temrance D. Paul, Chief Executive Officer.
31.2 Section 302 Certification by Mary T. Minch, Chief Financial Officer.
321 Section 906 Certification by Terrance D. Paul, Chief Executive Officer.
32.2 Section 906 Certification by Mary T. Minch, Chief Financial Officer.
99.1 Scheduie H — Valuation and Qualifying Accounts.

(1) Incorporated by reference to Registrant’s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2001 (SEC File No. 0-22187).
(2) Incorporated by reference o Registrant’s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2000 (SEC File No. 0-22187).
(3) Incorporated by reference to Registrant's Amendment No. 2 to Form 8-A filed on August 9, 2006 (SEC File No. 0-22187).
(4) Incorporated by reference to Registrant’s Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2000 (SEC File No. 0-22187).
(5) Incorporated by reference to Registrant’s Form $-8 filed on April 18, 2003 (SEC File No. 333-104622).
(6) Incorporated by reference to Registrant’s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2003 (SEC File No. 0-22187).
(7) lncorporated by reference to Registrant's Form 8-K filed on March 7, 2005 (SEC File No. 0-22187).
(8) Incorporated by reference to Registrant’s Form 8-K filed on May 10, 2006 (SEC File No. 0-22187).
(%) Incorporated by reference to Registrant’s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2006 (SEC File No. 0-22187).
(10) Incorporated by reference to Registrant’s Form 8-K filed on Fanuary 29, 2007 (SEC File No. 0-22187).
{11) Incorporated by reference to Registrant’s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2007 (SEC File No. 0-22187).
(12) Incorporated by reference to Registrant’s Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2003 (SEC File No. 0-22187).

* Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement,

THE REGISTRANT WILL FURNISH A COPY OF ANY OF THE FOREGOING EXHIBITS UPON THE
REQUEST OF A SHAREHOLDER AFTER THE PAYMENT OF A FEE BY SUCH SHAREHOLDER WHICH
SHALL REPRESENT REGISTRANT’'S REASONABLE EXPENSES INCURRED IN FURNISHING ANY
SUCH EXHIBIT. REQUESTS SHOULD BE SENT TO RENAISSANCE LEARNING, INC,, 2911 PEACH
STREET, P.O. BOX 8036, WISCONSIN RAPIDS, WISCONSIN 54495-8036, ATTENTION: CORPORATE
SECRETARY.
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2007 MILESTONES

O Renaissance Learning made substantial progress in its O As the leading provider of computerized assessment
transition to a subscription-based model, as evidenced by technology for pre-K—12 schools, Renaissance Learning is
the continued growth in customers using our Renaissance well positioned to meet the growing need for products to help
Place products. These gains are not fully evident in the educators differentiate instruction and guide practice on
reported financial results because revenue from these essential skills. The subject of practice is so important that
product offerings is initially deferred and then recognized both the International Reading Association (IRA) and the
over the subscription period. National Endowmaent for the: Arts (NEA) have issued reports

that support reading practice as being vital to students’

O The Enterprise versions of Accelerated Reader and reading development.

Accelerated Math continued to grow in popularity. To date,

more than 12,000 schools have implemented web-based O Beginning in March 2008, Enterprise versions of Accelerated
Enterprise editions. The company experienced substantial Reader and Accelerated Math will provide parents with real-
growth in order dollars per school for those that have upgraded time access to their children’s reading and math progress via
to the Accelerated Reader Enterprise versions, as customers the Internet. Home Connect is a new feature that will allow
realize the tremendous value that Enterprise provides. educators to extend practice opportunities beyond the

school day and increase parental involvement.
C More than 21,000 schools have now purchased at least cne

product on the weh-based Renaissance Place platform, e e e — = -] Home Connact will accelerate
including the Enterprise version. In addition, Renaissance ﬁ:‘% ;ﬁ%ﬁgf"ngﬁ ;Zﬁﬁiﬁ’gﬁ;ﬁfnm
Learning is now hosting Renaissance Place implementations AP s 2 o practice opportunities outsioe
| in its data center for more than 12,000 schools across the i the classroom. Available in
U.S. and in the United Kingdom. o 25% 1| ¥ March 2008, Home Connect wi
be included exclusively with the
O The company expanded its - E le = Emerfpdsz-dmi;s iogs . o
T e ccelerat eader an
line of NEOQ I;ptcps with the Sew $8——1 7Y zr 90% || Accelerated Math.
introduction of the NEO 2. Cem— S e——
Featuring built-in classroom m—— P T [rem U main A
response assessment oar & i _‘_3 e T e———
functionality, NEO 2 goes e T (o
beyond writing and e 1 ———TH e
keyboarding into virtually any = R
subject. Starting in March o A
2008, NEO 2 will also run

Accelerated Reader guizzes.

NEO 2 will integrate Accelerated Reader mni 2k——.]
and wireless assessment capabilities with e T
the already-leading NEQ writing and -W ———————

keyboarding solution.
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This Annual Report contains forward-kooking statements,
including statements regarding the introduction of new
products and services, the expected utilization of the
Company's existing and anticipated products, and ihe
anticipated growth of the Company. While these
statements reflect management's best current judgment,
they are subject to risks and uncerainties that could
cause actual results to vary materially from those
projecied in the forward-fooking statements. Additional
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actual results to differ from thase contained in such
forward-looking statements can be found in the
Company's Annual Repart an Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 2007, which factors are incorporated
herein by reference.

information contained on the Company’s website is not
deemed to be part of this Annual Report.
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